The College of Dietitians of Ontario regulates dietitians for public protection.
We deliver regulatory excellence to contribute to the health of Ontarians.

COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA

September 17, 2020 (9:00 – 4:30pm)
Virtual Meeting

GoToMeeting URL: https://global.gotomeeting.com/join/347695357
Item & Discussion

ACTION

ATTACHMENT

9:00 –
9:05am

1.0 Call to Order
2.0 Approval of Agenda

TIME

Approval/
Motion

2.1 Draft September 17 & 18, 2020
Council Meeting Agenda
9:05 –
9:10am

3.0 Declaration of Conflict of Interest
4.0 Declaration of Bias
TRAINING

9:10 –
10:30am

5.0 Governance 101 – Fay Booker

5.1 A Governance Dialogue Agenda
5.2 Pre-Read Package

BREAK
10:30 – 10:45am
10:45am –
12:30pm

5.0 Governance 101 – Fay Booker (continued)

LUNCH
12:30 – 1:00 pm
OVERSIGHT & ACCOUNTABILITY
6.0 Auditor’s Report

Approval/
Motion
1:00 –
2:00pm

7.0 Appointment of Auditor 2020-21

Approval/
Motion

6.1 CDO Draft Audited Financial Statements
for the Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2020
6.2 CDO Draft Reasonable Assurance
Report on Compliance with Executive
Limitations for the Fiscal Year Ended
March 31, 2020

2:00 –
2:10pm

BREAK
2:10 – 2:25pm
CDO Council Meeting Agenda– September 17, 2020

Item & Discussion
8.0 Registrar’s Report on Executive Limitations

ACTION

TIME

ATTACHMENT

Information/
Discussion

2:25 –
3:00pm

Approval/
Motion

3:00 –
3:30pm

8.1 Executive Limitations Report to Council

POLICY
9.0

Draft Delegation Standard

10.0 Extending the Waiver of Registration Fees
for Reinstatement During Pandemic

Approval/
Motion

3:30 –
3:50pm

9.1 Delegation Decision Support Document
9.2 Draft Delegation Standard
10.1Decision Support Document for Council
- Extending the Waiver of Registration
Fees for Return to Practise During
Pandemic

INFORMATION ITEMS (Consent Agenda)
11.0 Council Meeting Minutes:
March 27, 2020 (deferred from June 19,
2020 meeting)
June 19, 2020
August 26, 2020

Information

3:50 –
3:55pm

Discussion

3:55 –
4:30pm

12.0 Executive Committee Report

11.1 DRAFT Council Minutes March 27,
2020
11.2 DRAFT Council Minutes June 19,
2020
11.3 DRAFT Council Minutes August 26,
2020
12.1 Executive Committee Report

ADMINISTRATIVE
13.0 Council Sharing
14.0 Reminders/Standing Items:
• Update your tablet
15.0 Adjournment

4:30pm
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College of Dietitians of Ontario

Council attachment 5.1

A Governance Dialogue
September 17, 2020; 9:10 am to 12:30 pm
AGENDA – Times are Approximate
9:10 Introduction –Melisse
9:15 Module 1: Governance is a Serious and Formal Job
- Reflection on why governance is seen as a serious job which demands effective performance
- Common issues seen with Boards and missing governance pieces
- Case study: A typical Board meeting (in pre-read package)
9:45 Module 2: The Governance Job of the Board/Council
- The big five duties of the Board
- Planning, Talent Management, Risk Governance, Organization Integrity, Governance Practices
- A situation for discussion
10:15 – Module 3: Separation of Governance and Management
- Board operates in two modes: stewardship; strategic
- Separate roles of Board and Management
- Case study: The Audit Committee Chair (in pre-read package)
10:30 – Break
10:45 – Resume Module 3
11:20 – Module 4: Good Governance Depends on …..
- Key components – people, information, practices
- Identifying information needed
- Discussion: Risk Literacy Tool; Self-Reflection Tool (in pre-read package)
12:20 - Module 5 Summary
- Fay will wrap up the learning and dialogue session
12:30 End

Facilitated by Fay Booker, FCPA-FCA, C.Dir., CIA, CRMA, Acc.Dir., FCIS
Booker & Associates Inc.
Mailing Address: 1235 Fairview Street, Suite 365, Burlington, Ontario L7S 2K9
fbooker@bookerandassociates.com

Council attachment 5.2
Promoting Excellence in Corporate
Governance, and Risk Management

College of Dietitians of Ontario
Governance Dialogue: Principles for Good Governance
PRE-READ

Dear Councillors:
We have gathered some governance material for your review prior to the upcoming governance
dialogue session.
The following material includes example case studies that we will discuss during the dialogue
session, governance tools, and general reading on governance topical matters.

Facilitated by Fay Booker, Booker & Associates Inc.
fbooker@bookerandassociates.com

PUT OUR KNOWLEDGE TO WORK FOR YOU
1235 Fairview Street, Suite 365, Burlington, ON L7S 2K9
905-632-1331 | info@bookerandassociates.com
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Promoting Excellence in Corporate
Governance, and Risk Management

Table of Contents
Part A: Action Items - This section includes items that we will be discussing at the dialogue
session. Please read the material and bring your notes to the session.
Item

Your Action

Case Study: A Typical Board Meeting

Please review, identify where good governance
and weak governance was displayed.

Case Study: Audit Committee

Please review, identify if any action is needed by
the governing level.

Tool: Risk Literacy Self-Assessment for
Directors

Please conduct your self-assessment using the
questionnaire.

Tool: Director Self-Reflection

Please conduct your self-reflection using the
questionnaire.

Part B: Background Information - This section includes articles for your reading as background to
some of the governance practices that are expected today. This will assist in your understanding of
the principles for good governance which we will cover in our session. Please bring any comments
and questions that you have on this material.











Twelve Principles for Good Governance
Article: Play it SMART
Article: Let Governors Govern
Article: Learning to be a Director
Article: Risk Governance
Article: Informed Decisions
Article: Ensure or Assurance
Article: Good Minutes Matter
Example Governance Accountability Report - Director Compensation Disclosure &
Attendance
Biography for Fay Booker

Please remember to have this package handy for reference and discussion during the governance
dialogue session.
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College of Dietitians of Ontario
Governance Dialogue: Principles for Good Governance
Pre-Read Material
Part A: Action Items - This section includes items that we will be discussing at the dialogue session.
Please read the material and bring your notes to the session.

Note to participant
Following is a case study called “A Typical Board Meeting” – please review this case, make notes on
where good governance practices were displayed and where weak governance practices were displayed.
Bring your notes for discussion at our session.
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Governance Dialogue
Case Work – A Typical Board Meeting
Group Work - The following case will be a discussion topic at our session. Please review the
material and bring with you any questions or issues you have regarding the conduct of this
Board meeting.

Background: Community Hospital
Directors: Chair (Cameron), Sam, Bill, Bob, Sally, Jack, Howard, Suzie, Jim, Rose, Chris
It is Monday October 27, 2019 and Sam is in the Boardroom at the Hospital for the monthly Board
meeting. He had been busy chatting with his fellow director Bill on how his summer had been
since Sam missed the September Board meeting and the one before that was June. The Board takes
a summer recess so there are no meetings in July and August.
Sam realized that the Chair of the Board was calling the Board meeting to order.
The Chair stated that since it was 7:00 pm and quorum was in attendance, the meeting was called to
order. The Chair briefly reviewed the agenda for the meeting which included minutes of the
September Board meeting, update on Ministry policy changes, the CEO’s report, the CFO’s report,
items for review and approval by the Board which included revisions to parking fees and the
construction of a new operating room, and an information item being the results from the bi-annual
employee satisfaction survey. There are also reports from the Governance Committee and the
Audit Committee since both of those committees held their quarterly meetings at the beginning of
this month. The Chair asked if there was any other business to be added and Jack asked that there
be a discussion of the financial deficit of $100,000 at a hospital in the neighbouring community
which had been reported in the newspaper.
The Chair asked for approval of the minutes from the September meeting. [The September meeting
had dealt with the minutes of the June meeting, the CEO’s authorities, reminders of the upcoming
annual conference of hospitals, the usual financial review, and the CEO’s report on results of the
study of management compensation. There had been an in-camera meeting (CEO excused) to
discuss the results of the compensation study that management had contracted and the Board’s
views on implications to the CEO’s salary. Since it was within his authorities the CEO decided,
based on the results of the study, to increase the salary of all of his direct reports to take them to
the top of the salary range in order to prevent them from leaving the organization. In the incamera the Chair identified that since the CEO had increased all of his direct report’s salaries
there now wasn’t enough spread between their salaries and the CEO’s salary to compensate for
the more strenuous requirements of the CEO role. The Chair had reminded everyone that the CEO
was given a satisfactory rating on his last review. The study showed the CEO was under
compensated by $10,000 in comparison to other hospitals in the province. Jim had proposed a
motion which was carried to increase the CEO’s current salary by $15,000 retroactive to January
1 of the current year.]
Bob raised his hand and identified a grammatical error in the last line on page 3 of the minutes.
Sally stated that she was puzzled by the discussion captured in the minutes regarding the amount to
be allocated to the training budget. Sally’s recollection was that the additional amount was to be
Case is fictional. Names are not real. This case study is property of Booker & Associates.
Not to be used by others without permission
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Governance Dialogue
Case Work – A Typical Board Meeting
added to the training budget for diagnostic technicians yet the minutes stated that it was to go to the
training budget for nurses in the emergency department. Sally stated her ongoing concern that there
was always more money being put into the emergency department and the other equally important
areas in the hospital continued to be ignored for ongoing investment in staff development. Jack
asserted that Sally was mistaken in her recollection and he remembered that after the 30 minute
discussion on this item, it was clear that the $5,000 was to be added to the emergency nurse
training budget. Sally reminded Jack that one of the Board’s responsibilities is to approve all
amendments to the budget because we are dealing with community funds and particularly these are
designated donations for ongoing training. Jack agreed with Sally that it was the Board’s job to
approve the allocation but he wanted to be clear where the money was to go. Howard spoke up and
said that his recollection was the same as Sally. Jack wondered aloud why the Board had to deal
with a $5,000 item out of a million dollar budget. Sally told the recording secretary to be extra
careful in capturing the Board’s discussion. A motion was made to accept the minutes, which was
duly seconded, voted and carried.
Director Jim entered the meeting about now (7:15 pm).
The CEO made reference to his report that had been circulated in the Board’s package last week.
The only item he wished to add was that there had been a personnel change in that the head nurse
on the pediatric ward had been fired and Bev Wright was now the head nurse there. Sam thought
to himself that it doesn’t take long to read the CEO’s report given that it rarely is longer than two
pages. The Chair asked if there were any questions for the CEO and seeing none, moved on to the
next item. The CEO stated that he had nothing to raise to the Board’s attention under the topic of
Ministry update.
As usual the CFO gave a very succinct but straight forward report on the financial status of the
hospital. Since it was the October meeting, she presented the forecasted financial results to
December 31, 2019 and the forecasted balance sheet and highlighted the key benchmarks in the
forecasted information. She explained that there was softness in certain numbers in the projections.
Jack asked if the hospital would still achieve a break even and be within the expectations of the
Ministry in terms of basic service and achieve performance targets on speciality areas such as
cataracts and replacements for hips & knees. The CFO assured the Board she was confident that the
hospital would break even or maybe have a slight surplus but that it depended on further
contribution from the Hospital Foundation to cover a few operating expenses that had not been
expected. If the Foundation did not make any further contributions there would be a deficit.
There being no further questions, the Chair moved onto the next topic of: revisions to parking rates
at the hospital’s parking lot. First he suggested that there be a short break for everyone to refresh
their coffee.
Once the group reconvened, the CFO referred to the earlier presentation of the financial results. As
a means to improve the financial picture, management was recommending to the Directors an
increase to parking rates. The current rate of $2.50 for the first hour of parking and $1.50 per hour
for additional hours, would become $3.50 per hour for the first hour and $2.00 per hour for
additional hours. Jack quickly jumped on management’s recommendation. Jack stated that he had
noted the item on the agenda but was surprised that the Board package did not contain any content
Case is fictional. Names are not real. This case study is property of Booker & Associates.
Not to be used by others without permission
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Governance Dialogue
Case Work – A Typical Board Meeting
on this item and that the information would only be provided at the meeting. Jack stated that he
thought it was not appropriate to increase the parking rate when the patients and their visitors are a
captive market. Management advised that they had gathered information on what neighbouring
hospitals charged, as well as other public institutions in town including the college and university
as well as the rates charged in the city’s parking lots. Management also noted that there was a
notice in the parking lot that all fees collected were put back into the hospital to offset expenses for
providing the community with the necessary medical services. Jack vehemently stated his
opposition to an increase of 40% in the first hour rate when the rate of inflation was no more than
1.5%. Management noted that the parking rates had not been increased for more than 5 years due to
the Board’s ongoing opposition to any increase.
Sally asked if the increases could be done so that there could be free parking for particular groups
like seniors. The CFO said that there would be a heavy manual effort required to facilitate this as
the person asking for free parking would need to present their parking ticket, prove their age, and
management would need to have staff available to deal with this 7 days a week for at least six
hours per day given regular medical hours and visiting hours.
Howard asked how much additional revenue would be provided through this increase. The CFO
replied that it would be $11,000 for the remainder of this year as management is ready to make the
new charges effective December 1 and that the full year affect in 2020 would be $120,000. The
CFO noted that this would offset the lack of increase to operating funds which the Ministry had
already announced for the next fiscal year.
Rose felt that the Board could not deal with this matter tonight as she found the information
incomplete. Management had not presented the Board with the options that management had
considered to either increase revenues other than to raise parking fees or reduce costs. She expected
that before any increase in fees would be considered by the Board, that first management would
present the cost reduction measures that could be taken and how this might result in no need to
increase parking rates. Rose also said that she was upset that this issue was being presented to the
Board this month given that just last month the Board heard about sizeable pay increases for senior
management and the CEO.
Jack reiterated that this parking rate increase was a disservice to patients and their visitors. Suzie
reminded the Board that it is the Board’s duty to do what is right for the hospital as a whole and to
provide for a sustainable organization. So maybe even though it was unpleasant that this was the
right thing to do as 2020 was unpredictable.
Chris excused himself from the meeting (9:40).
Sam felt that the discussion was going nowhere so he proposed the following motion: In light of
management’s recommendation to increase parking rates and in the absence of an analysis of
implications of this action and in the absence of other options presented to preserve a suitable
financial result, the Board does not approve the proposed rate increases and further that the Board
directs management to provide a more fulsome analysis at the November Board meeting. The Chair
spoke against such a motion as this only delayed getting on with what needed to be done. Jack

Case is fictional. Names are not real. This case study is property of Booker & Associates.
Not to be used by others without permission
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Governance Dialogue
Case Work – A Typical Board Meeting
jumped in and seconded the motion and Suzie called for the question. The Chair called for a vote
and the motion carried.
The Chair reminded the Board that it was now 9:50 pm and that the Directors seemed to be tired.
He asked that the Board indulge in dealing with the next item quickly. The next item introduced
was the construction of the new ward.
The CEO showed the conceptual drawing of the new operating room. This was going to be the first
operating room to be designed with the new clinical approach to patient flow and surgical
efficiency. This would be very different from the process followed in the existing operating room.
The CEO noted that the estimated cost is approximately $1 million. Howard asked the CEO if a
fixed price contract had been entered into with the builder and the CEO confirmed that yes indeed
this had occurred. Jack moved that the project be approved, motion was carried.
The Chair suggested that in order to deal with the reports from the Governance Committee and the
Audit Committee, that the Chairs of these respective committees only take questions on the
material included in the Board package. Seeing no questions the Chair moved on with the agenda.
Seeing that it was now 10:10 pm the Chair advised the Board that it was prudent to adjourn the
meeting and to hold over the results of the employee satisfaction survey until the November
meeting. The Chair also noted that the item added regarding the $100,000 deficit at the other
hospital would also be deferred to the November meeting. Sam spoke up and stated that he did not
think this was wise as there seemed to be some disturbing trends and comments in the employee
satisfaction survey results. However Jack, Howard, Sally and Suzie all mentioned that they were
too tired and all had to work the next day in their real jobs. The rest of the Board members agreed
and a motion to adjourn was carried.

Please identify issues that you see in the conduct of this Board meeting and bring with you to
discuss at our workshop.

Case is fictional. Names are not real. This case study is property of Booker & Associates.
Not to be used by others without permission
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College of Dietitians of Ontario
Governance Dialogue: Principles for Good Governance
Pre-Read Material

Part A: Action Item
Note to participant
Following is a case study that involves the Chair of the Audit Committee – please review this case,
identify if any action is needed by the governing level. Bring your notes for discussion at our session.
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Governance Dialogue Session
Facilitated: Fay Booker
CASE WORK
You are the Chair of the Audit Committee of the College of Yuktuk and have just received a
phone call from a staff member at the College. The staff member called you to let you know
that he is aware that the Vice President of Registration has been padding her expense report.
The staff member stated that he can see the same receipts being used more than once and he has
added up the double billing to be $5,000 over this past year. You expressed to the staff member
that you find this hard to believe. You stated that the Vice President of Registration seems like
a decent person and is highly respected in the sector and by the government officials that the
VP deals with and why would someone who is well paid do something as trivial as this.
You immediately picked up the phone and called the CEO (President) to advise him of the
accusation and ask him to explain. The CEO was appalled that such an accusation was made.
The CEO took exception to the accusation because he approves the expense reports for all staff
who directly report to him. He stated that the staff member was not at liberty to discuss such a
matter with a Board member. That clearly the Board/CEO relationship policy stated that the
CEO was the only employee of the Board and that all other staff members had to go through
the CEO to talk to the Board.
You left the matter with the CEO to resolve.
At the next quarterly Audit Committee meeting you asked the CEO on the way into the meeting
if that expense report matter had been resolved and he told you that yes it had and there were
no problems. In fact it was nice to see the Vice President of Registration at the Audit
Committee meeting presenting the business case and financial requirements for the new
program that is being initiated.
A few months later in the meeting with the External Auditors to review the annual financial
statements, the auditors reviewed the list of litigation items that were considered for disclosure.
One of the items was a wrongful dismissal suit from an employee in the finance department
who had been fired and you recognized the name. You asked the CEO in the meeting, the
reason for firing the individual and his answer was that the employee was fired for acting
outside authorities.
How much further do you pursue this matter? Will pursuing it demonstrate a lack of trust in the
CEO? Will pursuing it be offside of the Board/CEO relationship policy that states that Board
members are not to direct or have intense discussions with the staff on particular issues?

Case is fictional. Names are not real. This case study is property of Booker & Associates. Not
to be used by others without permission.
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College of Dietitians of Ontario
Governance Dialogue: Principles for Good Governance
Pre-Read Material
Note to participant – Risk Literacy
Following is a self-assessment tool for a Director to determine their level of capability in the area of Risk
Literacy. Please complete this self-assessment and bring any questions you have on the tool to our
session.

Directors are not expected to be experts in risk management but are expected to have a sound
understanding of the risks which are inherent to the operations of the organization which they are
governing.
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Directors – Risk Literacy
Self-Assessment
A Reference Tool

Promoting Excellence in Corporate Governance,
Risk Management and Operational Effectiveness

Ability

On scale of 1= weak;
5 = strong

1

I am able to explain the inherent enterprise level risks to the organization’s
mandate and business

2

I am able to explain what an ERM framework is and able to identify
necessary elements of an ERM framework

3

I am able to identify parameters to determine a prudent risk appetite for the
organization

4

I am able to identify necessary reports the Board needs in order to monitor
the level of risk at the organization

5

I am able to identify single large risk(s) requiring oversight individually and
able to evaluate the aggregate risk level

6

I am attuned to and understand the emerging risks to the organization’s
mandate and business

7

I am able to identify risks inherent to strategic initiatives

8

I understand risks that exist through outsourcing, supplier, subsidiary, and
other business relationships

9

I am able to set expectations for management in mitigating risk and the
manner in which the Board can gain assurance on the effectiveness of such

10

I am able to assess the Board’s role in adding to or reducing the risk profile
of the organization

11

I understand how risks at the inherent level and the mitigated (residual) level
are evaluated and monetized for potential financial loss and/or damage to
reputation

12

I understand our stakeholders’ expectations regarding acceptable level of
risk.

This tool was designed by F. Booker, FCPA-FCA, C.Dir., CIA, CRMA, Acc.Dir., FCIS, Booker &
Associates. Contact: fbooker@bookerandassociates.com

© Booker & Associates
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College of Dietitians of Ontario
Governance Dialogue: Principles for Good Governance
Pre-Read Material
Note to participant – Self Reflection Tool for Directors
Following is a self-reflection tool for a Director to review their level of contribution to the governance of
the organization. This is a tool that we have used in the principle of governance accountability. Please
complete this self-assessment and bring any questions you have on the tool to our session.
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DIRECTOR ANNUAL SELF-REFLECTION
(Name of organization) _________________________

THIS IS AN EXAMPLE ONLY
Your Name _________________________

Dear Directors: Please complete and bring with you to the session. Ignore the introduction.
Introduction
Each Director will have a two way dialogue with the Board Chair regarding the operations of the Board and the
contribution by the Director.
Please complete this self-assessment and send it to the Board Chair. After receipt, the Board Chair will arrange a
meeting to discuss your reflection and to assist in developing action plans for improving results where improvement
is needed or where we can provide assistance to you in your governing role.
Please note that there are two open questions at the end of this self-evaluation tool for you to complete to highlight
other items for discussion in your one on one meeting with the Board Chair.
Ratings:
1. Poor; 2. Need Improvement; 3. Average; 4. Good; 5. Excellent
Read each statement and insert the appropriate rating which reflects your level of contribution.
Item to Evaluate

Rating

DECISION-MAKING
1.

I have a good understanding of the aims and objectives of the Organization.

2.

I understand that the Board of Directors is the final authority in the Organization, but I also
respect management’s right to act without interference within guidelines set by the Board.

3.

I respect the ability and subject matter expertise which management provides to the business
of the Organization and I do not infringe on management’s responsibilities.

4.

I realize that except when I am functioning as part of the Board or a Committee at a duly
called meeting, I have no more authority than any other Director.

5.

I ask discerning questions during the meetings relative to the reports being tabled.

6.

I am aware of the key issues facing the Organization today and am open to understanding
the key issues as the Organization moves forward.

7.

I understand my individual and joint responsibilities as a director and the legal consequences
of being the ultimate authority in the Organization.

8.

I appreciate the future implications of current decisions and the implications on the
Organization of a lack of proper decisions.

9.

I understand the mechanics of Board meetings and can actively participate in discussions
and move motions.

10.

I understand the role of the Board Officers (Chair, Vice Chair) in setting the agenda and
working with committee chairs to bring pertinent information to the Board.
STEWARDSHIP

11.

I have a good understanding of the financial reports (balance sheet and statement of
operations) and able to interpret them into the financial health of the Organization.

12.

I have a good understanding of the inherent risks to the business of the Organization and the
actions taken to mitigate those risks.

13.

I allocate sufficient time to my role as director. I am well prepared for meetings. Materials
provided to me in advance of a meeting are reviewed by me and questions noted in advance.

14.

I understand the majority of the reports received regarding the performance and operations
of the Organization, and know how to diagnose them.

15.

I clearly separate my personal interests from my responsibilities as a director.

Designed by Booker & Associates, July 2019; Booker & Associates will not assume any liability for reliance
placed on this example. This is an example only and should be customized to suit an individual company.
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DIRECTOR ANNUAL SELF-REFLECTION
(Name of organization) _________________________

THIS IS AN EXAMPLE ONLY
Your Name _________________________

16.

As a director of the Organization, I make decisions in the best interest of the Organization,
as opposed to an interest group.

17.

I am willing to contribute my personal time to achieve the competence required of an active
director.

18.

I hold the confidential business of the Organization in strict confidence.
PARTICIPATION

19.

I participate openly at Board and Committee meetings by asking appropriate questions and
offering constructive comments.

20.

I recognize the talents of fellow Board members, and try to develop a spirit of respect on the
Board. I appreciate the benefit of diverse opinions.

21.

I appreciate that it is important that my attendance be regular and punctual and I strive to
achieve attendance at no less than 90% of the Board and Committee meetings.

22.

I maintain Board solidarity – I do not disclose or aggravate Board differences. I support
Board decisions even if I was opposed at the Board discussion level. I do not actively
oppose Board decisions or undermine Board activities.

23.

As a Director, I understand that I am to support my colleagues through mentorship, ongoing
dialogue and respect.

24.

I am prepared to respectfully stand alone if necessary in order to bring issues to the attention
of fellow Board members but am open to sound reasoning from others brought to bear on
the issue.

25.

As a director, I realize that I am part of a team and I forego my personal goals to support the
Board’s team goals.

26.

I communicate well and respectfully with other directors and with members of management.

27.

I stay attune with significant activities and changes within the Organization including those
in the sector generally.

28.

I demonstrate the need to operate at a governing level by asking questions in a constructive
manner and focus on ‘need to know’ rather than general conversational ‘want to know’
information.
REPUTATIONAL STEWARDSHIP

29.

I contribute towards people’s confidence in the Board by the fact that my actions are
consistent with the Organization’s values.

30.

I personally support the mandate (business) of the Organization.

31.

I fully understand the code of conduct established for Directors and honour the code in my
actions and activities.

Are there areas where you would like some assistance in furthering or improving your contribution to the
governing level?

Please identify a couple of items to provide feedback to the Board Chair on his/her performance as the
facilitator of the Board and as the Chief Governance Officer of the Organization.

Designed by Booker & Associates, July 2019; Booker & Associates will not assume any liability for reliance
placed on this example. This is an example only and should be customized to suit an individual company.
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College of Dietitians of Ontario
Governance Dialogue: Principles for Good Governance
Pre-Read Material

Part B: Background Information - This section includes articles for your reading as
background to some of the governance practices that are expected today. This will assist in your
understanding of the principles for good governance which we will cover in our session. Please
bring any comments and questions that you have on this material.











Twelve Principles for Good Governance
Article: Play it SMART
Article: Let Governors Govern
Article: Learning to be a Director
Article: Risk Governance
Article: Informed Decisions
Article: Ensure or Assurance
Article: Good Minutes Matter
Director Compensation Disclosure & Attendance
Biography for Fay Booker
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Do You Play it S.M.A.R.T.?
As fay booker POINTS OUT, good governance is critical
for the success of an organization — including yours.

Good governance is critical for
the success of an organization.
Past events have created some
classic examples of weak
governance — Nortel, Enron,
Bear Stearns, Volkswagen —
no board wants to be the next
example.
I facilitate a course entitled
Do You Practice S.M.A.R.T.
Governance? The acronym
helps boards remember to be
strategic, adequately oversee
management, demonstrate accountability to its stakeholders,
display respect for management
and within the board, and to
have the appropriate talent.
Strategic governance ensures
that a board encourages and
supports a focus on moving
forward. The board should
not be focused on the past. It is
easy to provide the board with
loads of information on what
has taken place in the organization and while it is important to
know the current performance,
the board needs to ensure there
is a clear vision and strategic
direction for the future of the
organization. Strategic governance causes an organization to
move forward, to continuously
improve the service that it provides to its customers, to inspire
employees to do their best, and
to meet the expectations of the
stakeholders. It is important
then that the directors are able
to operate at the strategic level.
This is often an overlooked trait
on the checklist for skills-based
boards. There needs to be an
appropriate balance of time on
stewardship and strategy.
Management oversight or

a focus on stewardship is the
most common governance
activity. It is necessary for a
board to oversee management’s
actions and decisions without
getting into micromanagement.
The responsibility for the board
in this dimension is to hold
management accountable for
a positive employee environment, delivering on customer
satisfaction, having effective
operations, and financial health.
The focus here is on the results,
not on telling the CEO how to do
his or her job. A critical part of
this aspect is to set the appropri-

Self-assessments are not the
most rigorous mode of assessing the board’s effectiveness.
Having an objective assessment
conducted by a knowledgeable
governance consultant is the
superior method. However
few boards and organizations
will invest sufficiently in governance to actually benefit from
this type of strenuous but productive process. Independence
is a key measure for effective
governance. Board members
need to be independent of the
organization, independent from
management and independent

ate performance objectives for
the CEO and conduct an effective annual review of the CEO’s
performance.
Accountable and independent are dimensions of highgovernance performance. The
board has a job to do and it
needs to be assessed on how
it has done that job. The most
often used technique is for
boards to do self-assessments.

from each other. The decisionmaking of the board needs to
be free of bias and conflicts of
interest.
Respect is a necessary ingredient for good governance.
There must be a display of
respect between directors,
respect by directors for the expertise of management, respect
by management for the role of
the board. Lack of respect on

any of these dimensions will be
detrimental to effective governance. Respect is earned by the
board conducting its work in
the long-term best interests of
the organization. Management
earns its respect by performing
effectively for the organization
and its stakeholders.
Talent is a requirement of
each director and, in aggregate,
the composition of directors
must create a talented board.
To be talented, boards need
diversity, curiosity, knowledge,
positive personal attributes, and
a commitment to continuous
development. The board should
be comprised of individuals
who can bring different life experiences, competencies, diversity of views, as well as strategic
thinking to the table. We need
directors to be curious and be
willing to ask questions of management that gives them a full
understanding of the issues.
There are challenges to the
practice of S.M.A.R.T. governance. Some boards are not
enabled to do the right job.
This could be a result of weak
information, distractions from
the real issues, allowing governance to be taken over by
management, focusing on the
micro instead of the macro, or
not optimizing the talent of the
board. Following the practice of
S.M.A.R.T. governance should
enable the board to maximize
its effectiveness.
All boards should ask themselves if they practice S.M.A.R.T.
governance: Strategic, Management oversight, Accountable,
Respectful, and Talented.

Fay Booker is the president of Booker & Associates, a consulting firm focused on promoting excellence in
corporate governance, risk management and organizational effectiveness. fbooker@bookerandassociates.com
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Board of Directors

This is an example of a governance accountability report showing
who the Directors are, the compensation paid to them, expenses
reimbursed, and attendance record.

The majority of the Community Savings’ Board of Directors are known leaders within the labour movement. Each
board member is an advocate for hard-working people who strive to create a secure life for their families. The board
works together with a common vision for the future of the credit union and the working community.

Phillip Legg

Colleen Jordan

Gary Kroeker

Ken Bauder

Lynn Bueckert

Mary La Plante Derksen

Chair of the Board

Vice-Chair

Secretary

Director

Director

Director

Irene Lanzinger

Lee Loftus

Leslie Roosa

Rick Sieb

Dave Wilson

Director

Director
.

Director

Director

Director

Director Compensation Disclosure

AND ATTENDANCE

CSCU Directors are expected to devote considerable time to fulfill their obligations to oversee the Credit Union and
attend board meetings, annual planning sessions, committee meetings etc. In order to attract and retain qualified
Directors, to reward them for their professional expertise, and level of contribution expected of them, compensation
is set at a rate comparable to other credit unions and financial institutions.
For fiscal year 2019, the compensation received for each Director is outlined in the table below, along with their
meeting attendance.
Director Name

Role

Directors Fees

Board Meetings
Committee
Attended
Meetings Attended

Other Expenses

Total

Phillip Legg

Chair

$8,500

7 of 7

27 of 27

$704

$9,204

Colleen Jordan

Vice Chair

$7,700

7 of 7

31 of 31

$62

$7,700
$4,450

Gary Kroeker

Secretary/ Treasurer

$4,450

3 of 7

15 of 21

$32

Irene Lanzinger

Director

$1,700

4 of 4

3 of 3

$1,079

$2,779

Ken Bauder

Director

$4,400

6 of 7

12 of 12

$27

$4,427

Mary LaPlante Derksen

Director

$4,500

5 of 7

10 of 14

$4,500

Dave Wilson

Director

$5,150

7 of 7

16 of 17

$5,150

Rick Sieb

Director

$4,200

6 of 7

8 of 11

Leslie Roosa

Director

$5,050

7 of 7

17 of 17

$188

$5,050

Lee Loftus

Director

$4,350

7 of 7

14 of 14

$1,034

$5,384

Lynn Bueckert

Director

$3,300

5 of 7

8 of 15

$1,034

$4,334

Ken Isomura

Director

$3,400

1 of 2

N/A
$3,878

$60,578

TOTAL

$56,700

$4,200

$3,400

*Ken Isomura resigned his position of Director on February 5, 2018
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Booker & Associates Inc.
1235 Fairview Street, Suite 365, Burlington, ON L7S 2K9
Phone 905-632-1331
fbooker@bookerandassociates.com

Fay M. Booker, FCPA-FCA, CIA, C.Dir., Acc.Dir., FCIS , Principal, Booker & Associates
Booker & Associates is a boutique consulting firm focused on promoting excellence in
governance and enterprise risk management.
Fay has extensive experience in corporate governance. She has a career
spanning over 30 years and has directly served Boards in the role of partner
of the external audit firm (Deloitte & Touche LLP and Grant Thornton
LLP), as Chief Internal Auditor at two federally regulated financial
institution and a large provincially regulated financial institution, and as
Corporate Secretary for corporate and not for profit organizations.
Fay is a thought leader in the disciplines of governance and enterprise risk
having developed principles, models, frameworks, and translated concepts
into operational techniques. Ms. Booker has consulted extensively in
corporate governance advising Boards across Canada on the implementation
of practices to support good governance. Ms. Booker has conducted governance audits and reviews of
numerous Boards of Directors for companies, financial institutions, crown corporations, and not-forprofit organizations.
Fay’s work in the regulatory and legal aspects of the governance discipline has included the
development of standards which are now requirements for the governance of provincially regulated
financial institutions. She has been engaged directly by regulators in assisting them to develop risk
based supervisory and examination approaches. Additionally Fay has been the governance expert in
three litigations which focused on the actions of the Boards where these lawsuits involved multimillion lawsuits against the Board of Directors.
Fay has developed courses on governance and written governance curriculum utilized in the
Accredited Director education offered by the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators.
She is a faculty member for two governance education curriculums offered in Canada.
Fay is a regular contributor to local newspapers and magazines with articles on governance and she
authored the Organizational Effectiveness Toolkit for Community Organizations. Fay has earned a
number of designations over the years and has been named a fellow by two organizations – the
Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ontario and the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators.
Fay has served on a variety of Boards over the years including ones in the health sector (hospital, long
term care, community), tourism, the arts, and economic development.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
To the Members of the
College of Dietitians of Ontario
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the College of Dietitians of Ontario ("College"), which
comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2020 and the statements of operations, changes in net
assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

Basis for Opinion
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In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the College as at March 31, 2020, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.

Other Matter
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We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the College in accordance with the ethical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide basis for our opinion.

The financial statements of the College for the year ended March 31, 2019 were audited by another firm of
Chartered Professional Accountants who expressed an unmodified opinion on those financial statements on June
20, 2019.
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with
Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the College's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the College or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the College’s financial reporting process.
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.

1

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.



Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the College’s internal control.



Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.



Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast doubt on the College’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the College to cease to continue as a going concern.



Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.
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TORONTO, Ontario
September 17, 2020
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

Licensed Public Accountants
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COLLEGE OF DIETITIANS OF ONTARIO
Statement of Financial Position
As at March 31

2020

2019

Assets
Current
Cash
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses

$

589,785
10,536
64,801

$

665,122
3,341,815
85,936
129,502

Investments (note 3)
Capital assets (note 4)
Intangible assets (note 5)
$

4,222,375

593,542
7,302
49,067
649,911
3,388,454
82,800
139,776

$

4,260,941

$

164,590
1,516,377

Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 6)
Deferred revenue (note 7)

Net assets
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Invested in capital and intangible assets
Internally restricted (note 8)
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Liabilities
$

$

235,099
1,590,822
1,825,921

1,680,967

215,438
2,181,016

222,576
2,357,398

2,396,454

2,579,974

4,222,375

$

4,260,941

Commitments and subsequent event (note 10 and 12, respectively)

Approved on behalf of the Council
______________________________, President
______________________________, Member

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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COLLEGE OF DIETITIANS OF ONTARIO
Statement of Operations
Year ended March 31

2020

Revenues
Member fees
Application and assessment fees
Investment income (note 9)
Other income

Excess of revenues over expenses before undernoted

Amortization of capital assets
Amortization of intangible assets
Realized and unrealized gains (losses) on investments (note 9)
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenses for the year

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.

2,641,789
98,295
230,092
6,746

$

$

2,542,300
108,152
114,885
4,733

2,976,922

2,770,070

1,451,846
184,704
125,315
138,398
108,740
94,102
64,783
45,873
39,247
36,745
36,643
29,258
27,150
22,888
9,894
6,732
3,575
2,503
145

1,352,568
109,240
130,728
136,255
84,127
82,827
61,056
43,409
59,056
41,417
25,531
34,898
24,899
22,265
11,647
6,116
12,307
2,488
3,198

2,428,541

2,244,032

548,381

526,038

(25,087)
(52,324)
(654,490)

(27,108)
(56,193)
24,977
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Expenses
Salaries and benefits
Council and committee
Communication initiatives
Rent
Computer related
Investigations
Bank charges
Professional services
Quality assurance assessment components
Office
Telephone
Registration assessment components
Staff development
Memberships
Printing, postage and delivery
Insurance
Contracted services
Staff travel
Translation

$

2019
(note 14)

(183,520)

$

467,714

4

COLLEGE OF DIETITIANS OF ONTARIO
Statement of Changes in Net Assets

Year ended March 31

Unrestricted

Balance, beginning of year

$

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenses for the year

-

Invested in
capital and
intangible
assets
$

222,576

Internally
restricted
$ 2,357,398

(106,109)

(77,411)

-

Purchase of capital and
intangible assets (net)

(70,273)

70,273

-

Inter-fund transfer

176,382
$

-

$

215,438

Total

Total

$ 2,579,974
(183,520)

(176,382)
$ 2,181,016

2019

$ 2,112,260
467,714

-

-

-

-

$ 2,396,454

$ 2,579,974
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Balance, end of year

-

2020

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.

5

COLLEGE OF DIETITIANS OF ONTARIO
Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended March 31

2020

Changes in non-cash working capital balances:
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Deferred revenue
Cash provided by operating activities
Cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Purchase of investments
Proceeds on sale of investments
Purchase of capital assets
Purchase of intangible assets

Net decrease in cash
Cash, beginning of year
Cash, end of year
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Cash used by investing activities

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.

$

(183,520)

$

27,108
56,193
(24,977)
(3,472)

544,909

522,566

(3,234)
(15,734)
70,509
77,917

6,681
(1,621)
10,418
60,007

674,367

598,051

(3,656,161)
3,048,310
(28,223)
(42,050)

(2,702,229)
2,137,064
(8,628)
(65,163)

(678,124)

(638,956)

(3,757)

(40,905)

593,542
$

467,714

25,087
52,324
654,490
(3,472)
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Cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenses for the year
Item not requiring a cash outlay
Amortization of capital assets
Amortization of intangible assets
Realized and unrealized (gains) losses on investments
Amortization of deferred lease inducement

2019

589,785

634,447
$

593,542
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COLLEGE OF DIETITIANS OF ONTARIO
Notes to the Financial Statements
March 31, 2020
1 Organization
The College of Dietitians of Ontario ("College") regulates and supports registered dietitians in Ontario. It
enhances safe, ethical and competent nutrition services provided by dietitians. The College is governed by the
provisions of the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991 and the Dietetics Act, 1991.
The College is a not-for-profit corporation incorporated without share capital under the laws of the Province of
Ontario and, as such, is exempt from income taxes.
2 Significant accounting policies
These financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian accounting
standards for not-for-profit organizations.
(a) Cash

(b) Capital assets
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Cash includes cash deposits with major financial institutions and petty cash.

The cost of a capital asset includes its purchase price and any directly attributable cost of preparing the asset
for its intended use.
A capital asset is tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that its
carrying amount may not be recoverable. As at March 31, 2020, no such impairment exists.
Amortization is provided for on a straight-line basis over their estimated lives as follows:

(c) Intangible assets

5 - 8 years
5 years
10 years
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Office furniture and equipment
Computer equipment
Leasehold improvements

Intangible assets comprise computer software and database programming and are recorded at cost and
amortized over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis of five years.
(d) Revenue recognition
(i) Membership fees

Membership fees are billed for the period from November 1 to October 31 and recognized as revenue
proportionally over the period to which these fees relate. Fees received in advance are recorded as
deferred revenue.
(ii) Investment income

Investment income is comprised of interest, dividends and realized gains and losses on disposal of
investments, and unrealized gains and losses on the fair value of investments. Interest is recognized as
revenue when earned. Dividends are recorded as revenue when declared. Realized gains and losses on
disposal of investments are recognized when the transactions occur. Unrealized gains and losses, which
reflect the changes in fair value during the period, are recognized at each reporting date and are included
in current period operating results.
(iii) Other income
All other fees and income are recognized as revenue when the services are provided.
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COLLEGE OF DIETITIANS OF ONTARIO
Notes to the Financial Statements
March 31, 2020
2 Significant accounting policies continued
(e) Financial instruments
(i) Measurement
The College initially measures its financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value, adjusted by, in the
case of a financial instrument that will not be measured subsequently at fair value, the amount of
transaction costs directly attributable to the instrument. Transaction costs of those financial assets and
financial liabilities subsequently measured at fair value are recognized in the year incurred.
The College subsequently measures its financial assets and liabilities at amortized cost, except for
investments, which are measured at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognized in the statement of
operations. Fair values are determined by reference to quoted market prices in active markets.
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(ii) Impairment
At the end of each reporting period, the College assesses whether there are any indications that a
financial asset measured at amortized cost may be impaired.
(f) Management estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit
organizations requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the current period. Significant estimates include the
useful lives of capital and intangible assets.

3 Investments
As at March 31
Fixed income

Common shares
Mutual funds
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Actual results may differ from these estimates, the impact of which would be recorded in future periods.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis and revisions to accounting
estimates are recognized in the year in which the estimates are revised and in any future years affected.

2019
Cost
Fair Value

Maturing on dates between April 8,
2022 to March 4, 2026 (2019 - April 1,
2019 to December 8, 2020) yielding
between 2.19% to 2.68% annually
(2019 - 1.48% to 1.96%)
$1,711,464

$1,619,834

$1,630,470

$ 1,667,395

878,512

853,182

969,171

1,064,218

600,324

469,517

-

-

764,455

399,282

713,005

656,841

$3,954,755

$3,341,815

$3,312,646

$ 3,388,454

Preferred shares Yielding between 5.15% to 6.25%
annually (2019 - 5.15% to 6.50%)
Total investments

2020
Cost Fair Value

At March 31, 2020 the fair market value of the College’s investments have declined due to volatility in the
markets, influenced by the COVID-19 pandemic, commodity prices and other market factors.
Management believes this decrease in fair market value is temporary and not an indication of permanent
impairment of the investments. The unrealized loss on investments was reduced subsequent to year-end as
described in note 12.
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COLLEGE OF DIETITIANS OF ONTARIO
Notes to the Financial Statements
March 31, 2020
4 Capital assets
As at March 31

2020
Accumulated
Cost Amortization

Office furniture and equipment
Computer equipment
Leasehold improvements

2019
Accumulated
Amortization

Cost

$

143,337
103,398
265,035

$

(109,885) $
(76,600)
(239,349)

133,119
87,460
262,968

$

(102,635)
(67,359)
(230,753)

$

511,770

$

(425,834) $

483,547

$

(400,747)

$

82,800

Net book value

$

85,936

As at March 31

2020
Accumulated
Cost Amortization

Computer software

$

Net book value

312,301

$
$

6 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
As at March 31
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Trade payables and accruals
Payroll and withholding taxes

7 Deferred revenue
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5 Intangible assets

(182,799) $

2019
Accumulated
Amortization

Cost
735,887

129,502

$

(596,111)

$

139,776

2020

2019

$

217,470
17,629

$

145,343
19,247

$

235,099

$

164,590

Deferred revenue consists of membership fees received in advance for the next year. The change in the
deferred revenue accounts for the year is as follows:
(i) Deferred membership fees

2020

Balance, beginning of year
Fees received
Fees recognized as revenue

$

Balance, end of year

$

2019

1,502,778 $
2,719,706
(2,641,789)
1,580,695

$

1,442,770
2,602,308
(2,542,300)
1,502,778

(ii) Deferred lease inducement
2020

2019

Balance, beginning of year
Amortization of lease inducement

$

13,599 $
(3,472)

17,071
(3,472)

Balance, end of year

$

10,127

13,599

$
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COLLEGE OF DIETITIANS OF ONTARIO
Notes to the Financial Statements
March 31, 2020
8 Net assets
The Council of the College has internally restricted net assets to be used for specific purposes. These funds are
not available for unrestricted purposes without approval of Council.
Any transfers to internally restricted net assets must be approved by Council.
Internally restricted
Invested in
Capital &
Capital &
Intangible
Intangible
Hearings
Assets Assets Fund
Fund

Balance, beginning of year

$

Excess (deficiency) of revenue
over expenses for the year

222,576 $
(77,411)

Purchase of capital and
intangible assets (net)

70,273

Inter-fund transfers

-

Balance, end of year

$

215,438 $

109,024 $

100,000 $

Total

2,148,374 $

2,579,974

-

-

-

(77,411)

-

-

-

70,273

-

-
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2020

General
Reserve
Fund

109,024 $

100,000 $

(176,382)

(176,382)

1,971,992 $

2,396,454

Internally restricted

Capital &
Intangible
Assets Fund
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2019

Invested in
Capital &
Intangible
Assets

Balance, beginning of year

$

Excess (deficiency) of revenue
over expenses for the year

232,086 $

62,000 $

Hearings
Fund

100,000 $

General
Reserve
Fund
-

Total
$

394,086

(83,301)

(83,301)

Purchase of capital and
intangible assets (net)

73,791

73,791

Inter-fund transfers

-

Balance, end of year

$

222,576 $

47,024

109,024 $

100,000 $

2,148,374

2,195,398

2,148,374 $

2,579,974

The details of internally restricted net assets are:

(i) The Capital and Intangible Assets Fund is designated to provide a reserve for capital and intangible asset
purchases.
(ii) The Hearings Fund is designated to provide a reserve for the costs of hearing procedures.
(iii) The General Reserve Fund is designated to provide a reserve for extraordinary expenses that exceed or fall
outside the provisions of the College's approved operating budget, and are not otherwise covered by the
Capital & Intangible Asset Fund or Hearings Fund. This fund is also intended to provide for budgeted
expenses that exceed budgeted or actual income.
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COLLEGE OF DIETITIANS OF ONTARIO
Notes to the Financial Statements
March 31, 2020
9 Investment income (loss)
Year ended March 31

2020

Interest
Distributions from mutual funds
Distributions from common and preferred shares

$

Realized and unrealized gains (losses) on investments

119,582
24,774
85,736
230,092

2019
$

(654,490)
$

(424,398) $

31,920
82,965
114,885
24,977
139,862

10 Commitments

2021
2022
2023
Total

$
$

11 COVID-19 impact

144,066
144,066
130,060
418,192
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Pursuant to a lease for the premises expiring February 28, 2023, the College is obligated to pay the following
annual lease payments, which includes an estimate of additional rent and applicable GST/HST:

12 Subsequent event
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Governments have enacted emergency legislation in response to the declaration that COVID-19 is a pandemic,
causing business disruption and economic slowdown. The duration and impact of the COVID-19 outbreak is
unknown and the future impact on the College's operations, including investments and future cash flow is not
determinable.

As at August 31, 2020, the fair value of the College's investments have increased approximately $430,000.
13 Financial instruments

The College is exposed to various risks through its financial instruments. The following analysis provides a
measure of the College's risk exposure at the statement of financial position date.
Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by
failing to discharge an obligation. The College is exposed to credit risk through its cash, accounts receivable and
investments.
The College reduces its exposure to credit risk related to cash by maintaining deposits with a government
regulated Canadian financial institution.
The College manages its exposure to credit risk related to fixed income investments by investing in high
investment grade securities, in accordance with its investment policy.
The College is not exposed to significant credit risk on its accounts receivable.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the College will not be able to meet a demand for cash or fund its obligations as they
come due.
The College meets its liquidity requirements and mitigates this risk by monitoring cash activities and expected
outflows and holding assets that can be readily converted into cash, so as to meet all cash outflow obligations as
they fall due.
11
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13 Financial instruments (continued)
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market prices. Market risk is comprised of currency risk, interest rate risk and equity risk.
Currency risk
Currency risk reflects the risk that the College's earnings will vary due to the fluctuations in foreign currency
exchange rates. The College is not exposed to foreign exchange risk.
Interest rate risk

Equity risk
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Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the fair value of financial instruments or future cash flows associated with
the instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. The exposure of the College to interest
rate risk arises from its interest bearing investments and cash. The primary objective of the College with respect
to its fixed income investments ensures the security of principal amounts invested, provides for a high degree of
liquidity, and achieves a satisfactory investment return giving consideration to risk.

Equity risk is the risk that the fair value of financial instruments or future cash flows associated with the
instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from currency risk or
interest rate risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual instrument or its issuer
or factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market.

Changes in risk
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The College is exposed to equity risk on its investments in mutual funds, common shares and preferred shares.
The College manages this risk by limiting the amount of equity investments that may be held, and requires that
all investments be recommended by the College's investment portfolio manager.

Other than the increased risks resulting from the events described in note 12, there have been no significant
changes in the College's risk exposures in financial instruments from the prior year.
14 Comparative figures

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the presentation adopted in the current year.
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Independent Practitioners's Reasonable Assurance Report on
Compliance with Executive Limitations Policies of the

COLLEGE OF DIETITIANS OF ONTARIO
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March 31, 2020

INDEPENDENT PRACTITIONER’S REASONABLE ASSURANCE REPORT ON COMPLIANCE
To the Members of Council of the
College of Dietitians of Ontario

Management's Responsibility
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We have undertaken a reasonable assurance engagement of the College of Dietitians of Ontario's ("the College")
compliance during the period April 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020, with the Executive Limitations Policies ("the specified
requirements") established by Council and contained in the Policy Governance Manual dated May 2017 and listed in
Appendix 1.

Management is responsible for the College's compliance with the specified requirements of the Executive
Limitations Policies. Management is also responsible for such internal control as management determines
necessary to enable the College's compliance with the specified requirements.
Auditor's Responsibility
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Our responsibility is to express a reasonable assurance opinion on the College's compliance based on the evidence
we have obtained. We conducted our reasonable assurance engagement in accordance with Canadian Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3531, Direct Engagements to Report on Compliance. This standard requires that we plan
and perform this engagement to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the College complied with the
specified requirements, in all significant respects.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but it is not a guarantee that an engagement conducted in
accordance with this standard will always detect a significant instance of non-compliance with specified
requirements when it exists. Instances of non-compliance can arise from fraud or error and are considered
significant if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the decisions of users
of our report. A reasonable assurance compliance reporting engagement involves performing procedures to obtain
evidence about the College's compliance with the specified requirements. The nature, timing and extent of
procedures selected depends on our professional judgment, including an assessment of the risks of significant noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error.
We believe that the evidence we obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Our Independence and Quality Control

We have complied with the relevant rules of professional conduct / code of ethics applicable to the practice of public
accounting and related to assurance engagements, issued by various professional accounting bodies, which are
founded on fundamental principles of integrity, objectivity, professional competence and due care, confidentiality
and professional behaviour.
The firm applies Canadian Standard on Quality Control 1, Quality Control for Firms that Perform Audits and Reviews
of Financial Statements, and Other Assurance Engagements and, accordingly, maintains a comprehensive system
of quality control, including documented policies and procedures regarding compliance with ethical requirements,
professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements.
Opinion
In our opinion, the College complied with the specified requirements established in the Executive Limitations
Policies described in Appendix 1 during the period April 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020, in all significant respects. We
did not provide a legal opinion on the College's compliance with the specified requirements.
TORONTO, Ontario
September 17, 2020

Licensed Public Accountants

AUDITOR'S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH EXECUTIVE LIMITATIONS POLICIES
APPENDIX 1 - POLICIES AUDITED
March 31, 2020
A POLICY TITLE: (L2) EMERGENCY EXECUTIVE SUCCESSION
4) The Registrar/Executive Director shall not fail to have a disaster plan.
B POLICY TITLE: (L5) FINANCIAL CONDITION
The Registrar/Executive Director may not:
1) Unless approved by Council, expend more funds than have been earned in the fiscal year to date, except for
reserve funds, but including amortization expenses in the capital fund.
3) Use any revenues for any purpose other than the purpose so designated.
4) Allow cash and marketable securities to drop below the amount needed to settle payroll and debts in a timely
manner.
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5) Allow payroll and debts to become overdue such as to affect the credit rating of the College.
6) Allow tax payments or other government-ordered payments or filings to be overdue or inaccurately filed.
- Our examination excluded an assessment of the applicability of the Excise Tax Act.
7) Fail to obtain the approval of the Executive Committee for the amount and purpose of interfund transfers and
allocations to reserves.
C POLICY TITLE: (L7) FINANCIAL TRANSACTIONS
The Registrar/Executive Director may not:

1) Fail to manage the banking in keeping with By-law provisions for "Banking" Section 31.
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- Except as permitted by Executive Limitations Policy L7 (3) which allows for $500 of petty cash.
2) Make payments on behalf of the College by any means other than by cheques, credit card and direct
withdrawal from the College bank account with the exception of #3 listed below.
3) Maintain a petty cash account exceeding $500.00.

4) Fail to inform financial institutions of the current names and titles of signing officers and required signing
authorization limits. registration, renewal and application fees. All investment income earned is allocated to
the operating fund.
D POLICY TITLE: (L8) ASSET PROTECTION
The Registrar/Executive Director may not:

3) Fail to insure against theft and casualty losses to at least 80 percent replacement value and against liability
losses to Councillors, staff or the organization itself in an amount less than the average for comparable
organizations.
4) Allow uninsured personnel to handle funds or College property or pledge credit of the College.
6) Commit the organization to any expenditure of greater than $25,000 except as approved by Council,
including those approvals obtained in the budget approval process.
7) Fail to abide by By-law provisions 33.07 and 36.01 regarding contracts of over $40,000.
8) Make any single purchase of goods or services, except where specifically approved by Council or the
Executive Committee:
a) Wherein normally prudent protection has not been given against conflict of interest.
b) Of over $15,000 without having obtained comparative prices and except where the vendor has been
established by Executive Director as a Vendor of record for recurring expenses.

AUDITOR'S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH EXECUTIVE LIMITATIONS POLICIES
APPENDIX 1 - POLICIES AUDITED
March 31, 2020
D POLICY TITLE: (L8) ASSET PROTECTION (continued)
9) Receive, process or disburse funds under controls which are insufficient to meet the Council appointed
auditor's standards.
10) Fail to report to Council the investments and sales transactions at a minimum frequency of twice annually.
11) Fail to ensure safekeeping of the College's securities and documents.
12) Fail to manage the College investments in keeping with By-law provisions set out in Section 32.
- Compliance measured as at the year end date.

14) Fail to review and sign bank statements.
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13) Fail to invest or hold operating capital in i) financial institutions that are CDIC member institutions, including
deposits in bank accounts or GIC's or ii) bonds that have a rating of not less than Dominion Bond "A" rating
or iii) investments in equities that are recommended by the College's financial advisor.

15) Fail to limit investments in equities to 40% of the book fund value when market opportunities present, as
recommended by the College's financial advisor.
- Compliance measured as at the year end date.
16) Acquire, encumber or dispose of real estate.

17) Without approval of the Council, borrow money on the credit of the College, limit or increase the amount or
amounts to be borrowed, or determine or alter security arrangements.
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18) Fail to respond to Council regarding the recommendations from the annual audit report and the management
letter.
19) Fail to ensure that, except for payroll taxes, recurring monthly cheques exceeding $10,000 and requiring the
signature of the College shall be signed by one of the President, Vice-President or the Registrar & Executive
Director.
E POLICY TITLE: (L9) COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS/PAYMENT IN LIEU OF BENEFITS
The Registrar/Executive Director may not:

1) Change his or her own compensation and benefits or payment in lieu of benefits.
3) Establish current compensation and benefits or payment in lieu of benefits which create obligations over a
longer term than revenues can be safely projected, and in no event violates fiscally responsible
management.
4) Establish pension benefits.

5) Fail to inform staff of the compensation and benefits and payment in lieu of benefits provided to them by their
employment with the College.
6) Fail to take adequate measures to minimize the utilization of temporary employees.
F POLICY TITLE: (L16) REGISTRAR EXPENSES
The Registrar & Executive Director may not fail to obtain the review of the President or Vice-President for all
expenses charges to the CDO Visa under the Registrar & Executive Director's name.
The Registrar & Executive Director may not fail to obtain the authorization of the President or Vice- President for
payment of CDO out-of-pocket expenditures.

Report on Executive Limitations 2019-2020

Council attachment 8.1

What Are Executive Limitations?
Executive Limitations come from the policy governance model developed and promoted by John Carver.
They explicitly set out the detailed limitations or boundaries of the Registrar & ED’s discretion in exercising
their authority to manage the operations of the College. The Executive Limitations generally reflect good
management best practices.
How Is Adherence to Executive Limitations Determined?
Some of the Executive Limitations are proven through external or internal audits (e.g. financial audit and
audit of the register). For many of them, I provide information to demonstrate how I have adhered to the
specific statements and note where I have not done so and any extenuating circumstances. Through your
work on Council and Committees, you will observe many of the expected behaviours directly and have a
sense if the information rings true or not. You can also ask to review any of the products referred to verify
they exist as indicated.

Note for 2019-20 – the pandemic has been an exceptional situation this year. This report covers the
period from April 1, 2019-March 31, 2020. As a result, it includes details about the College’s pandemic
response only up to March 31, 2020.

Melisse L. Willems, MA LLB
Registrar & Executive Director

September 2020 Council Meeting

Table of Contents

L1

General Executive Constraint ..........................................................................3

L2

Emergency Executive Succession .....................................................................3

L3

Communication and Advice to the Council ......................................................4

L4

Staff Treatment ..............................................................................................6

L5

Financial Condition .......................................................................................8

L6

Budgeting ...................................................................................................10

L7

Financial Transactions .................................................................................10

L8

Asset Protection ...........................................................................................11

L9

Compensation and Benefits/Payment in Lieu of Benefits ..................................14

L10

Setting of Fees Other Than Registration .........................................................14

L11

Operation of the Register .............................................................................15

L12

Administration of Statutory Committees and Panels ........................................15

L13

Treatment of Members, Clients and Members of the Public ..............................17

L14

Services to Council ......................................................................................18

L15

Program *Administration* ............................................................................19

L16

Registrar Expenses.......................................................................................20

L17

Protection of Personal Information .................................................................20

2|Page

L1 General Executive Constraint
The Registrar & ED shall not cause or
allow any College practice, activity,
decision or organizational circumstance
which is either imprudent, illegal, or in
violation of the organization's
regulations, bylaws or commonly
accepted business practices and
professional ethics duties.

L2 Emergency Executive Succession
1. In order to protect the Council from
sudden loss of Registrar & ED
services, the Registrar & ED may not
fail to keep the Council President and
one office staff member familiar with
Council and Registrar & ED issues and
processes and keep one staff member
familiar with Registrar processes.

2. The Registrar & ED shall not fail to
maintain College policies and
procedures, business and records in
an organized, orderly and accessible
manner.

The collective of the responses to the Executive Limitations forms the
response to this general constraint.

The Registrar & ED meets regularly (typically every month) with the
Executive Committee and reports on extra-ordinary issues in the
internal and external environments. Issues are also shared with staff
members individually and as a team.
Staff members work closely with the Registrar and staff meet as a team
regularly, typically every 6-8 weeks and are briefed by the Registrar &
ED following every Council meeting.
Council is informed directly of key issues 4 times a year in the
Management Report prepared by management staff and the Registrar
& ED.
Policies and Procedures: electronic version of policies and procedures
are dated and maintained. Admin policies are accessible to staff on a
shared network drive. Policies relevant to committees are posted in
Box and on the website as necessary and appropriate.
Policies and procedures related to the database and database
dependent functions have been documented. Daily/weekly
procedures have been implemented to continually check for data entry
errors. A procedure is in place for cleaning data for transfer to the
Health Professions Data Base at the Ministry of Health.
Processes for critical functions are documented for purposes of
continuity.
Records: Almost all records are now maintained electronically.
Electronic Records are maintained by staff members on programspecific drives and common drives.
Council and Committee Minutes: Council and Executive Committee
minutes and other committee records are maintained by assigned staff
members and maintained on Box as appropriate. Council, Executive
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3. The Registrar & ED shall not fail to
provide the President access to
management contracts, all leases, and
an up-to-date copy of administrative
policies for on-site review.

4. The Registrar & ED shall not fail to
have a disaster plan.

Committee and Audit Committee minutes are accessed annually by the
auditor.
All contracts and policies are available for inspection at the College,
including
•
Lease
•
Insurance
•
Database
•
Mail Meter
•
IT support
•
Internet provider
•
Xerox Lease
•
Auditor - appointment letter
•
Consultant contracts
No requests were received from the President for access to these
documents in 2019-20.
The auditor accesses major contracts (ongoing and new ones) as part
of the audit.
This was audited and reported on by the auditor. No compliance
issues were noted.

The disaster plan is regularly updated. The database is hosted offsite
with full security measures. The server system has back-up battery
power to enable proper computer shut down in a power outage. Local
server files are now backed up to the cloud where they remain secure
and accessible in the event of a disaster at the office. Staff members
have each other’s home/cell phone numbers to communicate when the
office has to be closed or when staff is forced to work in alternative
locations. The Registrar, IT Manager and Communications Manager
have emergency contact numbers at home to assist recovery planning.
Staff can forward phone calls to the College if the premises become
unavailable for an extended period. The Registrar, IT Manager,
Communications Manager and Registration Manager have secure
online access to regularly updated Emergency Disaster Recovery
documents stored in Box.
Early in 2020 as a result of the developing international coronavirus
health crisis, staff reviewed the college’s disaster plan, developed a
plan in the event that staff needed to move operations off-site with little
or no notice and, with the declaration of the pandemic on March 11,
2020, began implementation of that plan.

L3 Communication and Advice to
the Council
With respect to providing information
and counsel to the Council, the Registrar
& ED may not cause the Council to be
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uninformed. Accordingly, he or she may
not:

1. Let the Council be unaware of
relevant trends, anticipated adverse
media coverage, material external
and internal changes, particularly
changes in the assumptions upon
which any Council policy regarding
the College has previously been
established.

The Registrar & ED has kept the Executive Committee and Council
informed of internal and external issues through monitoring reports
and by referring material to Council and appropriate committees, (e.g.
proposed changes in legislation and regulations, information from
other colleges, educators, the association, legal counsel, government
officials, media reports and others).

2. Fail to submit the required
monitoring data (see policy on
Monitoring Executive Performance) in
a timely, accurate and
understandable fashion, directly
addressing provisions of the Council
policies being monitored.

The Registrar provides Council with monitoring data including
Executive Limitations Audit (and this Report), Report on the Audit of the
Register, Financial Audit, Quarterly Financial Reports and committee
and Council evaluations. The monitoring information has been
developed over the years and reported on to the satisfaction of
Council. Issues monitoring and Registrar & ED reports are a standard
item for College Council meetings (4X/yr.)
The Registrar & ED reports annually to the Registrar Performance and
Compensation Review Committee and to Council on her performance
goals.

3. Fail to provide for the Council
adequate staff and external points of
view, issues and options as needed
for fully informed Council choices
relating to the operation of the
College.

Council and Committees are fully supported by College staff. Each
Committee has at least one staff support person to assist as needed.
The Registrar & ED and staff have provided written and oral material
to support Council and committee work, often reflecting on the
actions/policies/positions of other regulatory bodies and
organizations. Legal counsel input has been sought to support
decision-making as needed. Staff is supported to participate in
associations and attend conferences and other meetings as a source of
external input. In addition, the Registrar & ED and staff participate in
the Health Profession Regulators of Ontario, the Council on Licensure,
Enforcement and Regulation, Ontario Regulators for Access
Consortium, the Partnership for Dietetic Education and Practice and
other external groups to develop networks to ensure awareness of
external initiatives and views.

4. Present information in unnecessarily
complex or lengthy form.

Written materials prepared by the Registrar & ED and staff are concise
and well organized. Committees and Council evaluations continue to
assess the staff support and decision support materials favourably.
Oral presentations or explanations are provided by the Registrar & ED
and staff as needed to supplement written materials. The
Registrar/Staff are continuing to ensure that acronyms are spelled out
and other esoteric language is explained or avoided.

The Registrar & ED reported to Council about the College’s pandemic
response and considerations relevant to the pandemic to inform
Council’s decision-making at its March 2020 Council meeting.
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5. Fail to deal with the Council as a
whole except when
a) fulfilling individual requests for
information, or
b) responding to officers or
committees duly charge by the
Council.

The Registrar & ED provides regular reports directly to Council, raising
issues for information and decision making. The Registrar & ED uses
the Executive Committee as a resource with the expectation that, unless
a decision is required before a Council meeting, issues go to Council
for decision making. The Registrar & ED avoids dealing with individual
Council members unless it is necessary to do so.

6. Fail to report in a timely manner an
actual or anticipated non-compliance
with any policy of the Council and
provide an explanation for such noncompliance.

No issues have been noted in the reporting year.

7. Edit Council or Committee
communications unless requested by
the author or with the knowledge of
the author when being prepared for
circulation or publication.
8. Fail to inform at least one staff
member of his/her whereabouts
during regular office hours.

Council and Committee approved policies are not revised by staff once
they are approved.

9. Fail to provide Council/Committee
with copies of legal opinion which
may be useful to Council or
Committees.

At minimum, the Registrar & ED keeps the Executive Office staff
informed of her schedule. All staff can access the calendar of all staff
members including that of the Registrar & ED. The Registrar & ED
maintains a detailed shared calendar and ensures the calendar is upto-date with all out-of-office appointments. The Registrar & ED is also
always available by phone or email during business hours, even when
out of the office.
All relevant legal opinions are shared with the appropriate committees
and/or with Council. In addition, educational material from legal
counsel and other sources are shared with committees and Council.

10. Fail to provide Council or
Committees with administrative
policies and documentation which
affect Council or Committee.

All committees and Council members have the appropriate set of
policies and procedures.
Policies are posted in Box for ease of access.

11. Fail to report to Council any
administrative action which may
adversely affect public or member
perception of the College.

The Registrar & ED reports major administrative activities to Council
4X/yr. and to the Executive Committee more frequently as deemed
appropriate. No such administrative action was identified in the
reporting year.

L4

Staff Treatment

The Registrar & ED's authority with
respect to the treatment of paid staff and
volunteers is limited so as to assure that
the rights of these persons to fair,
equitable and humane treatment are not
impeded.
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Accordingly, she or he may not:
1.

Fail to ensure that, in all
decisions and actions
involving its employees, the
College complies with all
legislative requirements and
meets the spirit and intent of
the legislation. These
requirements include but
are not limited to the

Ontario Human Rights
Code, the Employment
Standards Act, and the
Occupational Health and
Safety Act.

The staff mix remains culturally and age-wise diverse and there is a
high value placed on this diversity. Staff is given a record of earnings.
Deductions and statutory vacation days comply with or exceed
requirement set out in legislation, and employment contracts express
legal requirements for giving notice. Employment contracts have been
reviewed by legal counsel.
No WSIB claims have been made by staff.
A copy of the Occupational Health and Safety Act (OHSA) is posted.
Monthly inspections are conducted and no safety issues have been
identified.
Legal counsel with expertise in employment law is consulted as needed
in regards to human resources matters.

2.

Fail to review existing employee
policies every two years (or as
policies change) to ensure
fairness, reasonableness (in
context of organizational and
legislative standards) and
comparability with employee
policies of similar types of
organizations.

Policies are reviewed at every staff meeting on a rolling basis to ensure
that all policies are regularly reviewed and revised, as needed. Staff
periodically attend education events provided by law firms that
specialize in Human Resources matters to assist the College to remain
abreast of legislation and its application.

3.

Fail to acquaint staff and
volunteers with their job
responsibilities and rights
under this policy.

All employees have a current job description and have been oriented
to it. Performance appraisals are based on job descriptions and
performance goals. New staff members are now required to confirm
that they have read the personnel policies to ensure they have
familiarized themselves with obligations and potential consequences of
non-compliance.
Volunteers (council and committee members) are oriented to their role
and related policies.

4.

Fail to take all reasonable
steps to provide an
environment free of
harassment (defined by the
Human Rights Code) or to
thoroughly investigate any
claim of harassment in the
workplace involving any
staff member.

There have been no failures to investigate claims of harassment
involving staff. Maintaining a respectful and professional culture is a
priority for the Registrar & ED and staff and concerns between staff
are addressed as needed.

5.

Discriminate against any staff
member/volunteer for expressing
an ethical dissent.

No staff expressed an ethical dissent.
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6.

Violate the principles for practice as
an equal opportunity employer.

See #1. There have been no violations – the College values diversity,
although the regular CDO staff is at this time all-female.

7.

Fail to put in place effective
mechanisms for internal
communication (such as all staff
meeting, internal e-mail, circulation
of appropriate documentation and
information, small group meetings
specific to issues, etc) and to ensure
that staff are informed and
knowledgeable in the aspects of the
College that affect their ability to
carry out their work.

Staff use email and in-person communication effectively. Shared
drives and shared documents are used more often to convene shared
work. Regular staff meetings take place. Staff is involved in agenda
setting and chairing staff meetings. Staff also meet before and after
each Council meeting to ensure staff stay abreast of decisions and
emerging issues. Issue-specific meetings are convened by both the
Registrar & ED and staff as needed – in keeping with the “open door”
policy culture in the office. Teams discuss and plan coverage for when
a staff member is away for vacation.

8.

Prevent staff and volunteers from
presenting concerns to the Council
when:

No staff member or volunteer has identified issues or requested to
present concerns to Council. This policy is known to staff.

a)

internal conflict resolution
procedures have been exhausted,
and

b)

the employee alleges either:
i.
ii.

9.

that Council policy has
been violated; or
that Council policy does
not adequately protect
human rights.

Fail to incorporate relevant
committee input when developing
annual staff performance
appraisals.

Committee input into staff performance appraisals is not formally
solicited for reviews although the Committee evaluations were
reviewed prior to completing staff appraisals. The Registrar is
accessible to receive comments on an ongoing basis and receives
comments throughout the year. Concerns and praise are shared with
staff members as they occur. Council and Committee evaluation
surveys capture comments on staff support which staff see.

10. Fail to ensure appropriate
professional development
opportunities for all staff.

Funds are allocated for professional development and linked to
program work plans and budgets. Staff, with the Registrar, identify
their own learning needs opportunities for development. Council
approves budget allocation for staff development. Developmental
needs are discussed as part of all performance appraisals.

L5 Financial Condition

This Executive Limitation has been audited as part of the external
financial audit and commented on in the auditor’s report.

With respect to the actual, ongoing
condition of the College’s financial
health, the Registrar & ED & Executive
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Director may not cause or allow the
following:
• development of fiscal jeopardy
• material deviation of actual
expenditures from Council priorities
established in College ENDS policies
Accordingly, he or she may not:

1. Unless approved by Council, expend

more funds than have been earned in
the fiscal year to date, except for
reserve funds, but including
amortization expenses in the capital
fund.

2. Indebt the organization in an
amount greater than can be
repaid by revenues within 60
days.
3. Use any revenues for any purpose
other than the purpose so
designated.

4. Allow cash and marketable
securities to drop below the
amount needed to settle payroll
and debts in a timely manner.
5. Allow payroll and debts to become
overdue such as to affect the credit
rating of the College.

This was audited and reported on by the auditor. No compliance
issues were noted.
Expenses were in line with budgeted amounts and in 2019/20 did not
exceed revenues. The College reported a paper deficit this fiscal as a
result of unrealized losses on its investment portfolio due to the
significant impact of the pandemic on financial markets.
The College is not indebted.

This was audited and reported on by the auditor. No compliance
issues were noted.
Please refer to the audited financial report for 2019/20 and the June
2020 Management Report which provides year end budget notes. No
revenues were used for any purpose other than the purpose so
designated.
This was audited and reported on by the auditor. No compliance
issues were noted.
The College’s payroll and accounts payable have never been
threatened. The current bank balance and investments have far
exceeded payables
This was audited and reported on by the auditor. No compliance
issues were noted.
Payroll has been met on time without fail.

6. Allow tax payments or other
government-ordered payments or
filings to be overdue or
inaccurately filed.

This was audited and reported on by the auditor. No compliance
issues were noted.

7. Fail to obtain the approval of the
Executive Committee for the amount
and purpose of inter-fund transfers
and allocations to reserves

This was audited and reported on by the auditor. No compliance
issues were noted
Interfund transfers are made after the draft audited statements are
finalized by the auditors; approval was obtained from the Executive
Committee in August 2020 for the transfers in Fiscal 2019-20 from the
Operating Fund to the Capital and Intangible Assets Fund and from
the Reserve Fund to the Operating Fund.
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L6 Budgeting
Budgeting in any fiscal year or the
remaining part of any fiscal year shall
not deviate materially from Council
ENDS priorities, risk fiscal jeopardy, nor
fail to show a generally acceptable level
of foresight.
Accordingly, the Registrar & ED may not
cause or allow budgeting which:
1. Fails to reflect the strategic direction
of the College

Work plans and budgets were prepared to support strategic goals and
objectives as well as program requirements. Budget assumptions show
planned expenditures for the strategic activities.

2. Contains too little information to
enable reasonably accurate
projection for a fiscal year, of
revenues and expenses (accrual
basis) and receipts and
disbursements (cash basis), and
disclosure of planning
assumptions.

Staff presented to Council ahead of presentation of the work plans and
budgets to enhance understanding of the budget and budgeting
process. Extensive, detailed budgets for each area of College
expenditure are provided to the Executive Committee. The overall
budget is reviewed and approved by Council. Detailed annual work
plans are provided to Council as reference to support its review of the
proposed budget.

3. Plans the operating budget in
any fiscal year of more funds
than are conservatively projected
to be earned in that period.

Revenues and expenses are estimated in a realistic fashion based on
previous years’ experience and forward-looking trends and
observations. Approved budgets include a modest surplus.

4. Allows cash plus marketable
securities to drop below an
amount equal to current liabilities
plus $100,000. For this
purpose, marketable securities
include any investment that is
readily redeemable.

No issues have occurred.

L7

Financial Transactions

With respect to the transaction of funds
involved in the operation of the College,
the Registrar & ED may not:
1. Fail to manage the banking in
keeping with the by-law provisions
for “Banking”, section 31

This was audited and reported on by the auditor. No compliance
issues were noted.
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2. Make payments on behalf of the
College by any means other than by
cheques, credit card, and direct
withdrawal from the College bank
account with the exception of #3
listed below.

This was audited and reported on by the auditor. No compliance
issues were noted.

3.

Maintain a petty cash account
exceeding $500.00.

This was audited and reported on by the auditor. No compliance
issues were noted.

4. Fail to inform financial institutions of
the current names and titles of
signing officers and required signing
authorization limits.

This was audited and reported on by the auditor. No compliance
issues were noted.

L8

Asset Protection

The Registrar & ED may not allow
College assets to be unprotected,
inadequately maintained, or
unnecessarily risked. All investments
should be made with the goal of
maximizing the return on investments
while still meeting the day to day cash
needs of CDO.
Accordingly, he or she may not:
1. Fail to ensure that all investments are
not in conflict with the ethics and
values of the dietetic profession.
2. Fail to ensure that all investments are
made with the end/goal of
maximizing the return on investment
while still meeting the day to day
cash needs of the College

The College does not have any unique investment which is in conflict
with the values of the profession as determined by the Registrar & ED
to the best of her ability. The individual investments in mutual funds are
not individually scrutinized.
All monies not invested in long term instruments are managed by RBC
Dominion Securities and can be accessed within a day. All
investments are discussed by the RBC Financial Advisor and the
Registrar & ED prior to approval by Registrar & ED.
The investment policy approved by Council recognizes the need to
maximize returns without unduly risking College funds – it enables
investment in equities and other non-guaranteed investments (max
40% of long-term investments).
Funds are moved periodically to/from long-term investments to
maximize investment income and provide sufficient access to funds to
meet short term needs. RBC Dominion Securities handles the shortterm investment of funds that must remain liquid as well as the longterm investment portfolio.
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3. Fail to insure against theft and
casualty losses to at least 80 percent
replacement value and against
liability losses to Council members,
staff or the organization itself in an
amount less than the average for
comparable organizations.

This was audited and reported on by the auditor. No compliance
issues were noted.

4. Allow uninsured personnel to handle
funds or College property or pledge
credit of the College.

This was audited and reported on by the auditor. No compliance
issues were noted.

5. Unnecessarily expose the
organization, its Council or staff to
claims of liability.

No issues have occurred.

6. Commit the organization to any
expenditure of greater than $25,000
except as approved by Council,
including those approvals obtained
in the budget approval process.

This was audited and reported on by the auditor. No compliance
issues were noted.

7. Fail to abide by By-law provisions
33.07 and 36.01 regarding
contracts of over $40,000.

This was audited and reported on by the auditor. No compliance
issues were noted.

8. Make any single purchase of goods
or services, except where specifically
approved by Council or the Executive
Committee:
• Wherein normally prudent
protection has not been given
against conflict of interest
• Of over $15,000 without having
obtained comparative prices and
except where the vendor has
been established by Executive
Director as a Vendor of record
for recurring expenses.

This was audited and reported on by the auditor. No compliance
issues were noted.

9. Receive, process or disburse funds
under controls that are insufficient to
meet the Council-appointed auditor's
standards.

This was audited and reported on by the auditor. No compliance
issues were noted.

10. Fail to report to Council the
investments and sales transactions at
a minimum frequency of twice
annually.

This was audited and reported on by the auditor. No compliance
issues were noted.
Investment transactions were reported 4 times this year in the
Management Report.
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11. Fail to ensure safekeeping of the
College’s securities and documents.

This was audited and reported on by the auditor. No compliance
issues were noted.

12. Fail to manage the College
investments in keeping with By-law
provisions set out in section 32

This was audited and reported on by the auditor. No compliance
issues were noted.

13. Fail to invest or hold operating
capital in financial institutions that
are CDIC member institutions,
including bank accounts, GICs and
bonds of no less than an A-High
rating and in high quality equities as
recommended by the College’s
financial advisor.

This was audited and reported on by the auditor. No compliance
issues were noted.

14.

Fail to review and sign bank
statements.

This was audited and reported on by the auditor. No compliance
issues were noted.

15.

Fail to limit investments in high
quality equities to 40% of the book
fund value when market
opportunities present, as
recommended by the College’s
financial advisor.

This was audited and reported on by the auditor. No compliance
issues were noted.

16.

Acquire, encumber or dispose of
real estate.

This was audited and reported on by the auditor. No compliance
issues were noted.

17.

Without approval of the Council,
borrow money on the credit of the
College, limit or increase the
amount or amounts to be
borrowed, or determine or alter
security arrangements.

This was audited and reported on by the auditor. No compliance
issues were noted.

18.

Fail to respond to Council
regarding the recommendations
from the annual audit report and
the management letter.

This was audited and reported on by the auditor. No compliance
issues were noted.

19.

Fail to ensure that, except for
payroll taxes, recurring monthly
cheques exceeding $10,000 and
requiring the signature of the
College shall be signed by one of
the President, Vice-President or the
Registrar & Executive Director.

This was audited and reported on by the auditor. No compliance
issues were noted.

Money has not been borrowed.
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L9 Compensation and
Benefits/Payment in Lieu of Benefits
With respect to employment,
compensation and benefits to College
staff, consultant, contract workers and
volunteers, the Registrar & ED may not
cause or allow jeopardy to fiscal integrity
or public image.
Accordingly, he or she may not:
1. Change his or her own
compensation and benefits or
payment in lieu of benefits.

This was audited and reported on by the auditor. No compliance
issues were noted.

2. Promise or imply tenured
employment.

No tenured employment as been promised or implied.

3. Establish current compensation
and benefits or payment in lieu of
benefits which: create obligations
over a longer term than revenues
can be safely projected, and in no
event violates fiscally responsible
management.

This was audited and reported on by the auditor. No compliance
issues were noted.

4. Establish pension benefits.

This was audited and reported on by the auditor. No compliance
issues were noted.

5. Fail to inform staff of the
compensation and benefits and
payment in lieu of benefits
provided to them by their
employment with the College.

This was audited and reported on by the auditor. No compliance
issues were noted.

6. Fail to take adequate measures to
minimize the utilization of temporary
employees.

This was audited and reported on by the auditor. No compliance
issues were noted.

L10
Setting of Fees Other Than
Registration

All fee matters have been dealt with through the by-law approved by
Council.

1. Fees should not be set by the
Registrar & ED that could be
construed as being unreasonable
and jeopardize the integrity and/or
operations of the College.

Fees within the discretion of the Registrar & ED are established on a
cost-recovery basis.
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L11

Operation of the Register

1. The Registrar & ED shall not fail to
keep the Register up to date and
accurate and in accordance with
the provisions of the Regulated
Health Professions Act, 1991 and
By-law 1, s 42.
2. Pursuant to the Health Professions
Procedural Code, s. 15(2), the
Registrar & ED shall not fail to refer
an application for registration to the
Registration Committee if the
Registrar & ED “(a) has doubts, on

reasonable grounds, about whether
the applicant fulfils the registration
requirements” in the Regulations.

Double checks are made to verify the accuracy of the data entered by
staff. Data “clean-ups” are done to ensure data
accuracy/completeness as entered directly by members on-line.
An audit is done on the register annually. The annual Audit of the
Register found that the Register is very complete and accurate with
only a very small number of errors noted.

Policies are in place to ensure registration files are referred to
committee appropriately. In keeping with policy, the only files that are
not referred to committee are from applicants who have graduated
from accredited academic and practical training education programs
or are subject to labour mobility or reciprocity/recognition
agreements.

L12
Administration of
Statutory Committees and Panels
Whereas the Council retains direct
authority for:
a) proper constitution of Statutory
Committees.;
b) approval of their annual work
plans and budgets (see “Council
Budgeting” policy.
And statutory committees/panels retain
direct authority for:
a) decisions on complaints/compliance
issues;
b) making proposals to Council re.
regulations and standards, and their
annual work plans and budgets;
c) ensuring that their decisionmaking/proposal preparation
process accords with all Council
policies (exercised through their
Chairs - see “Governance Process”
section, especially “Council
Committee/Working Group
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Principles”’ and “Standing
Committee - Terms of Reference”).

The Registrar & ED shall not fail to ensure
the efficient administration of statutory
committees and panels in accordance
with the Regulated Health Professions
Act, 1991 and College By-laws and
Council/Committee policies and
procedures
In particular the Registrar & ED shall not
fail to ensure that:

Committees and panels have been well supported and strategies
developed in collaboration with them for process improvements. Legal
Counsel is used to assist with complex procedures to ensure
compliance with the law.

All complaints received by the College have been referred to the ICRC
and matters are investigated as expeditiously as possible.

1. Every complaint to the College is
referred to the Investigations
Complaints and Report Committee
and is investigated expeditiously
2. Required communication takes place
between the College/Panel and all
concerned parties

Committees communicate with parties appropriately. Committee
decisions are sent to parties in a timely manner. Parties are updated
on status of active matters as needed and as appropriate.

3. Documentation is maintained and
distributed in a timely manner

Documentation is timely – with no comments submitted otherwise.

4. Any investigations required by
legislation/regulation are undertaken
in a fair and timely manner

Investigations have proceeded in a fair and timely manner.

5. Any referrals to Statutory Committees
or Tribunals arising out of the
regulatory process are forwarded
expeditiously.

Referrals are done on a timely basis as material is available. All
timelines with respect to the transfer of information to the Health
Professions Appeal and Review Board have been met.

In exercising this responsibility the
Registrar & ED shall not:

The Registrar & ED does not substantively alter any Committee/Panel
decisions. Minutes are prepared and approved by panel/committee
members.

6. interfere with the substantive
meaning of any statements made by
the Committees/Panels;
7. fail to consult the Chair of the
Committee/Panel regarding any
substantive changes to the
presentation of statements made by
their Committee/Panel;
8. attempt to enforce any decisions
upon a Committee/Panel, or
comment in the course of their
decision-making process, other than

Committee chairs review suggested edits of decisions. All panel
members review suggested edits for decisions.

The Registrar & ED has not attempted to unduly influence decisions
and does not drive decision-making other than to provide information
and advice on options and process.
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to provide information and advice;
9. fail to administer Committee/Panel
meetings and maintain expenses
within Council approved work plans
and budgets and with the full
knowledge and approval of the
Committee/Chair;
10. fail to inform the Chair of a
Committee/Panel of any matter
which requires the attention of their
Committee/Panel;
11. fail to inform the Chair of a
Committee/Panel of any significant
aspects of their operation which, in
his/her opinion, could bring the
Council into disrepute or jeopardize
the fulfilment of the Council’s Ends
policies, and, if necessary, ask the
full Council to review the matter.

Committee expenses were in line with approved budget and work
plans.

The Registrar & ED and/or staff keep committees informed as
appropriate e.g. legislation initiatives and external activities of
partners and collaborators. Several Committees have regular agenda
items for reporting and information sharing from the Registrar & ED
and/or staff.
No aspects of committee operations fell within this limitation in 201920.

L13 Treatment of Members, Clients
and Members of the Public
1. The Registrar & ED shall not fail to
treat members, clients and members
of the public in accordance with the
provisions of the Regulated Health
Professions Act, 1991 and College
regulations, and with a level of
courtesy and respect which is
reasonably expected in common
business practice.

The Registrar strives to treat members, clients and members of the
public with courtesy and respect. The College tracks and reports
member and public enquiries. The practice advisory service is
evaluated quarterly and is highly regarded from the perspective of
both value and service.

2. The Registrar & ED shall not fail to
provide a mechanism for the regular
communication of Council and
College business to members.

“Regulation Matters” and the Annual Report are used to communicate
Council and college business to members. Increasingly, email
communication with members and social media platforms are used to
push out information on a timely basis. An email service is used to
ensure delivery and the college is notified of every email that is not
delivered successfully.
Protocols and template letters are used to ensure this occurs.
Information is also available on the website.

3. The Registrar & ED shall not fail to
take reasonable steps to
communicate individual rights under
the Regulated Health Professions
Act, 1991 and College Regulations
to clients and potential, current, and
past members.
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4. The Registrar & ED shall not fail to
take all reasonable measures and
make all reasonable plans to ensure
that persons may use French in all
dealings with the College.

“Regulation Matters” and other key documents, including videos, are
translated into French using a professional translator. The website is
available in French and English through a toggle button. The
Communications Manager is bilingual and is the key person for
contact with Francophone members and members of the public.

5. The Registrar & ED shall not fail to
inform members about their
professional responsibilities and the
consequences of non-compliance.

Regular articles are featured in “Regulation Matters” to inform
members about their professional responsibilities and consequences of
non-compliance. The Code of Ethics for members was revised. The
member workshops for 2019-20 featured the topic of Ethics and
Professionalism, focussing on the revised Code of Ethics.
Professionalism topics are organized on the website by subject. The
JKAT (Jurisprudence Knowledge and Assessment Test) serves to ensure
members are knowledgeable about their obligations and JKAT
questions are updated to incorporate changes/new professional
requirements. Staff members accept speaking engagements to have
further opportunities to inform members, interns, and students.
Program letters further inform members of obligations, including
consequences of non-compliance. Evaluation results show members
appreciate the information and education and that this does translate
into changes in practice for many members.

L14

Services to Council

Elections and committee member appointments were conducted in
keeping with the provisions of the By-laws and results were reported to
Council.

2. The Registrar & ED shall not fail to
provide such administrative services
to Council as may be required by
Council and the President in
governing the College according to
the Regulated Health Professions Act,
By-laws and established policies.
These administrative services include:

Council meetings are well organized and meeting packages, including
agendas, are typically posted on Box 10 days before the date of the
meetings. Minutes are maintained by staff by filing signed versions in
Council binders/electronic folder. All minutes are reviewed and
approved by Council. Staff support is provided as requested and
offered to convene the work of Council.

1. The Registrar & ED shall not fail to
supervise and administer the election
of Council members and
appointment of committee members
as set out in the College By-laws.

a) making all preparations for
scheduled Council meetings.

Staff support of Council is evaluated annually and continues to receive
positive evaluations.

b) distributing to Council and NonCouncil members the agenda
and all available required
documents for each Council
meeting no later than 10 days
prior to that meeting.
c) taking and maintaining minutes
of all Council meetings.
d) providing staff support to Council
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and its officers in fulfilling its
legislative requirements and in
implementing its approved work
plan.

L15

Program Administration

The Registrar & ED shall not fail to
administer programs which produce
excellent dietetic care.
In exercising this responsibility, the
Registrar & ED shall not fail to:

No issues have been noted.

1. abide by all council standards,
regulations, by-laws and policies;
2. regularly inform and solicit the
advice of the originating Committee
about progress of the program;

Committees provide annual feedback on committee performance. Staff
update committees as appropriate on program work that occurs
outside of committee meetings.

3. ensure that Council is apprised prior
to implementation of any significant
divergences between his/her plans
and the advice of the originating
Committee.

No such divergences have occurred to trigger the need for such a
report.

For programs relating to Governance of
the Profession, Council retains direct
authority for:
i) approval of standards/regulations
which programs are to promote;
ii) approval of program outlines;
iii) advising the Registrar & ED, through
Council’s annual ENDS policy
review, of the priority it wishes to
place on overall (and, if it desires,
individual) program administration.
and Statutory Committees retain direct
authority for:
i) recommending to Council the
standards/regulations which the
programs are to promote;
ii) recommending to Council program
outlines which define the size and
scope of programs required to
assure an acceptable level of
success.
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L16

Registrar Expenses

The Registrar & Executive Director may
not fail to obtain the review of the
President or Vice-President for all
expenses charged to the CDO Visa under
the Registrar & Executive Director’s
name.

This was audited and reported on by the auditor. No compliance
issues were noted.

The Registrar & Executive Director may
not fail to obtain the authorization of the
President or Vice-President for payment
of CDO out-of-pocket expenditures.

This was audited and reported on by the auditor. No compliance
issues were noted.

L17
Protection of Personal
Information

The information security measures are reviewed within the context of
the Audit of the Register. Further, the College’s IT policy was
significantly reviewed and revised in 2018-19 to consolidate policies
and ensure policy met best practices.

1. The Registrar & ED shall not fail
to review the security measures
to protect personal information
every two years in compliance
with the College’s Privacy Code,
Safeguards: Principle 7.
2. The Registrar & ED shall not fail
to review relevant administrative
policies.

Relevant administrative policies and procedures have been reviewed.

3. The Registrar & ED shall not fail
to review the Records Retention
Policies every two years and
inform the Council of any
changes.

The policy was reviewed this fiscal and no changes were made.
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Council Attachment: 9.1

Council Decision Support Document

Practice Standard: Delegation of
Controlled Acts
______________________________________________________________________________

DECISION SOUGHT
Council is being asked to review the proposed Professional Practice Standard on Delegation of
Controlled Acts for approval, in principle, for the purposes of consultation, as recommended by the
Professional Practice Committee.

BACKGROUND
Controlled acts are activities that are considered to be potentially harmful if performed by unqualified
persons. The Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991, (the “RHPA”) is the umbrella legislation that
governs Ontario’s 26 health regulatory colleges and their members. The RHPA sets out 14
“controlled acts”, which are activities that are considered to have the potential of posing a risk of
harm to patients or clients if performed by unqualified individuals. Dietitians have been granted the
legal authority in the Dietetics Act, 1991 to perform only one controlled act, skin pricking, which falls
within the controlled act of performing a procedure below the dermis.
In keeping with its duty to protect the public, the College undertook research to identify areas where
there could be potential risks of harm to clients in dietetic practice. Risk of harm or unsafe acts were
defined in the consultation survey as “the potential for an event, action or inaction to adversely affect
a dietitian’s work in providing quality, safe dietetic services.” A total of 1342 Ontario Dietitians (35%
response rate) responded to a survey identifying high risk around practicing under a delegation of a
controlled act. For example, communicating a diagnosis, prescribing, dispensing, selling a drug as
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defined in the Drug and Pharmacies Regulation Act (insulin, Vitamins); or putting an instrument
beyond the larynx (instrumental swallow assessments).

PROPOSED PRACTICE STANDARD
Generally, the RHPA permits delegations to transfer the authority to dietitians to perform a controlled
act in appropriate circumstances. Addressing the areas of risk of harm is important to help the
College fulfill its public protection mandate by developing resources and standards for dietitians to
practise safely and competently in their changing practice environments.
The purpose of the Professional Practice Standards: Practising under a Delegation of a Controlled Act
for Registered Dietitians in Ontario is to clarify the expectations and behaviours that a dietitian must
know when Practising under a Delegation of a Controlled Act.
The Professional Practice Committee reviewed this draft Delegation Standard, proposed some edits
(see track changes) and recommended bringing to Council for discussion and approval for general
consultation.

RECOMMENDATION
That Council approves, in principle for the purposes of consultation, the proposed Professional
Practice Standard on Delegation of Controlled Acts (attachment 6.1).

NEXT STEPS
Should Council approve, in principle, the Professional Practice Standard on Delegation of Controlled
Acts, staff will complete the following steps:

1. Circulate for Consultation – Make any revisions directed by Council and circulate the
draft Professional Practice Standard on Delegation of Controlled Acts to RDs and
other relevant stakeholders for feedback.
2. Analyze Feedback and Revise – Analyze the feedback received from the consultation
and incorporate into the draft Professional Practice Standard on Delegation of
Controlled Acts. May need to go to Professional Practice Committee depending on
results of consultation.
3. Final Council Approval - Present to Council for final approval of the Professional
Practice Standard on Delegation of Controlled Acts.
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4. Publish and Communicate Broadly - Publish the Professional Practice Standard on
Delegation of Controlled Acts and develop a communication plan for education to
RDs and relevant stakeholders. Incorporate the resource into College publications and
program tools such as the Jurisprudence Education Resources, the Jurisprudence
Knowledge and Assessment Tool (JKAT) and the Peer & Practice Assessment.

POTENTIAL MOTIONS FOR COUNCIL APPROVAL

That Council approve, in principle for the purpose of consultation, the proposed Professional
Practice Standard on Delegation of Controlled Acts (attachment 9.2).

That Council approve, in principle for the purpose of consultation, the proposed Professional
Practice Standard on Delegation of Controlled Acts (9.2) with the following amendments:
___________________________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________________________
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Glossary
Controlled Acts
Controlled acts are activities that are considered to be potentially harmful if performed by unqualified
persons. The Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991, (the “RHPA”) is the umbrella legislation that
governs Ontario’s 26 health regulatory colleges and their members. The RHPA sets out 14
“controlled acts”, which are activities that are considered to have the potential of posing a risk of
harm to patients or clients if performed by unqualified individuals. A list of controlled acts set out in
the RHPA can be found at Appendix A. Dietitians have been granted the legal authority in
the Dietetics Act, 1991 to perform only one controlled act, skin pricking, which falls within the
controlled act of performing a procedure below the dermis.
Orders
An order is a direction from a regulated health professional with legislative ordering authority that
permits the performance of the direction by another healthcare provider. Orders can apply to
controlled acts where a dietitian is authorized to perform only with an order or public domain acts
where other legislation or facility rules require an order. Public Hospitals Act requires orders in
hospitals for controlled acts and many otherwise public domain acts. For example, prescribing a
therapeutic diet is not a controlled act. However, most public hospitals have interpreted the diet order
in a hospital setting to be “Treatment”, therefore requiring orders.
There are two types of orders:
•

Direct Order:
A direct order provides instructions for an intervention or treatment to be delivered at
a specific time and relates to only one client/patient. Direct orders may be oral (e.g., over the
telephone, via videoconferencing, or in person) or written.

•

Directives:
Directives (also called medical directives) are written orders by an authorized health care
professional (often more than one) to other health care professionals that pertain to any
client/patient who meets the criteria set out in the directive.

Delegation
Delegation is not specifically defined in the RHPA, but it is described as a process whereby a
regulated health professional who is authorized to perform a controlled act confers the authority to
someone (regulated or unregulated) who is not authorized to perform a controlled act. For dietitians,
delegations may be conferred by an order – direct order or directive.
Harm Clause in the RHPA: The "Harm Clause" prohibits anyone from engaging in health care
practices that would reasonably cause serious bodily harm, unless the activity is within the scope of
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practice of a regulated health professional. Section 30 of the RHPA outlines that the following is an
offence in relation to the risk of harm provision:

“Treatment, etc., where risk of harm 30 (1) No person, other than a member treating or

advising within the scope of practice of his or her profession, shall treat or advise a person
with respect to his or her health in circumstances in which it is reasonably foreseeable that
serious bodily harm may result from the treatment or advice or from an omission from them.”
By definition, no dietitian, either a general or temporary member, acting within their scope of
practice, could breach the harm clause. However, dietitians causing harm while acting within
their scope of practice are subject to College discipline for incompetence or misconduct and a
dietitian causing harm while engaging in health care activities outside of the dietetic scope of
practice, would be in breach of the harm clause, and could be prosecuted.
Scope of Practice for Dietitians
The statement is set out in the Dietetics Act, Section 3, as follows:
"The practice of dietetics is the assessment of nutrition and nutritional conditions and the
treatment and prevention of nutrition related disorders by nutritional means."
Practising Dietetics
The College elaborated on the scope of practice statement to monitor competence in dietetic practise
and to help with the administration of regulations, by-laws, programs, and policies, with a definition
of practising dietetics:
“Practising Dietetics is paid or unpaid activities for which members use food & nutritionspecific knowledge, skills and judgment while engaging in:
• the assessment of nutrition related to health status and conditions for individuals and
populations;
• the management and delivery of nutrition therapy to treat disease;
• the management of food services systems; building thee capacity of individuals and
populations to promote, maintain or restore health and prevent disease through
nutrition and related means;
• and management, education or leadership that contributes to the enhancement and
quality of dietetic and health services.”
The College does not consider the following activities as practising dietetics:
o Holding a position solely in non-dietetic management (e.g., Vice President or
Administrator of a hospital or other organization).
o Holding a position solely in the area of human resources (HR), information
technology (IT), or risk management.
o Engaging in sales or marketing of pharmaceuticals that are not related to
nutrition.
o Assessing facility processes to meet accreditation standards.
Unauthorized performance of a controlled act: Performance of a controlled act by a person who is
not authorized to perform it is a contravention of the RHPA. A person who does so is guilty of an
offence under the RHPA.
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Introduction
The College is committed to ensuring that dietitians in Ontario provide safe, quality care to clients.
The Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991 (RHPA) identifies fourteen controlled acts that pose
significant risk of harm to the people of Ontario (Appendix I). If a procedure involves controlled acts
that are not authorized for dietitians, then the RHPA generally permits delegations to transfer the
authority to dietitians to perform a controlled act in some situations. The delegation of controlled acts
in appropriate circumstances can result in more timely delivery of health care and can promote
optimal use of healthcare resources and personnel.
This Standard articulates the minimum level of performance expectations for dietitians when
practising through the delegation of controlled acts.
Performance expectations articulated in these standards may not apply to every area of dietetic
practice; their application will depend on client/patient factors and the dietetic practice setting. In
addition to complying with the Professional Practice Standard for Dietitians Practising through
Delegation of Controlled Acts, dietitians should follow organizational policies.

Standard Statements
Standard 1: Delegation of a controlled act must be in the best interest of the client/patient.
A registered dietitian demonstrates the standard by:
I.
II.

III.

ensuring a client-centered care approach;
making the decision to accept the delegation of controlled acts motivated by
client/patient interests, e.g. improves efficiency and access to care, is more timely,
convenient; and
not being motivated by other interests e.g. convenience of health care professional, for
status or position and/or self-interest.

Standard 2: Dietitians must have the knowledge, skill and judgement to accept a delegation
of a controlled act.
A registered dietitian demonstrates the standard by:
I.
having the required knowledge, skills and judgment specific to the controlled act being
delegated to safely and effectively perform the procedure;
II.
declining to perform a controlled act about which they are not knowledgeable to
perform;
III.
using an evidence-based informed approach when practising through delegation of the
controlled act; and
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IV.

understanding that when performing a controlled act, a delegation of authority is
required from someone who is authorized to perform the act by their profession-specific
act.

Standard 3: Dietitians must be aware of the laws permitting controlled acts to be performed
in certain circumstances and when a controlled act cannot be delegated.
A registered dietitian demonstrates the standard by:
I.

II.

III.

IV.

being aware of controlled acts that cannot be delegated under any circumstances:
 The controlled act of psychotherapy, as defined in the RHPA, relies upon the
psychotherapeutic relationship that is established between the authorized healthcare
professional and the client/patient. Delegating the controlled act of psychotherapy to
someone outside of the psychotherapeutic relationship could not only reduce the
quality of care and negate treatment benefits, but also present an unduly high level of
risk to the patient.
being aware that dietitians must refrain from delegating authority to perform capillary skin
pricks to other health care providers:
 Dietitians must refrain from delegating the authority to perform capillary skin pricks to
other health care providers.
 Students training for a profession that has controlled acts can do them under the
supervision of a registered member of the profession. This would apply to dietitians
training interns on techniques for skin pricking.
understanding that there are exceptions to the rules permitting controlled acts to be
performed in certain circumstances:
 Any controlled act can be performed during an emergency. This would include
applying a defibrillator where someone appears to be having a heart attack or
administering a glucagon injection when someone is suffering from a severe
hypoglycemic reaction that has rendered them unconscious.
 Assisting a person with "routine activities of living" may involve administering a
substance by injection or inhalation or performing an internal act. For example, a
dietitian on a home visit could, if they were competent to do so, assist clients with
their regular insulin injection.
 Treating a member of your own household can properly involve communicating a
diagnosis, administering a substance by injection or inhalation or putting an
instrument, hand or finger beyond the external ear canal, beyond the point in the
nasal passages where they normally narrow, beyond the larynx, beyond the opening
of the urethra, beyond the labia majora, beyond the anal verge, or into an artificial
opening into the body.
 Spiritual or religious healing can involve the performance of a controlled act if it is a
tenet of the religion.
 Indigenous Peoples in Canada can provide traditional healing services.
knowing that a delegation is not required/necessary as dietitians already have the authority
to perform the controlled act of skin pricking as authorized by the Dietetics Act (1991);
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V.

understanding that if a procedure is not a controlled act, it is said to be in the public domain,
meaning that anyone can do it. However, it would be subject to the "Harm Clause" under the
RHPA or criminal negligence under the Criminal Code of Canada.

Standard 4: Dietitians must ensure meeting standards for informed consent and record
keeping when practising under a delegation of a controlled act.
A registered dietitian demonstrates the standard by:
I.
II.

III.

ensuring clients/patients provide informed consent for the delegated controlled act,
whether consent is obtained by the delegating healthcare professional or by the dietitian;
participating in decisions based on the client’s informed choices and health care
professionals working together to ask, access, appraise and act on the research
evidence; and
keeping records in an organized and systematic way that supports collaborative practice,
communication, and compliance with relevant legislation.

Standard 5: Dietitians must be aware of accountability, quality assurance and delegation
processes in practice settings.
A registered dietitian demonstrates the standard by:
I.

II.
III.

IV.

V.
VI.
VII.

knowing the details of the delegation of authority required to perform the controlled act to
practise safely and ensure collaborative care. Dietitians would need either a direct order or a
medical directive to accept the authority to perform the controlled act;
identifying that procedures and/or activities that are not controlled acts do not require
delegation, but that they may still require orders depending on the practice setting;
recognizing that a work assignment and/or job description is not delegation. Another
regulated health professional asking or instructing you to perform a controlled act in the
moment does not constitute the process of delegation, or the transfer of their authority to
dietitians. A delegation is always required to perform any controlled acts that dietitians are
not authorized by the Dietetics Act to do;
establishing shared understanding of the roles and responsibilities within the team for
coordinating the delivery of optimal care to enable respect, trust, and shared decisionmaking (this is especially important when there is overlapping scope or shared authority for
the performance of controlled acts);
ensuring process for ongoing communication, monitoring and evaluation of the act being
performed (e.g. ensuring the currency of the dietitian’s knowledge and skills);
informing delegating healthcare professional of any actions taken by the dietitian to manage
any adverse event(s); and
being aware that the ultimate accountability and responsibility for the act that has been
delegated remain with the delegating healthcare professional. Dietitians also have a
professional obligation to maintain individual accountability to provide safe, competent care.
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APPENDIX I
Controlled Acts under the RHPA
1. Communicating to the individual or his or her personal representative a diagnosis identifying
a disease or disorder as the cause of symptoms of the individual in circumstances in which it
is reasonably foreseeable that the individual or his or her personal representative will rely on
the diagnosis.
2. Performing a procedure on tissue below the dermis, below the surface of a mucous
membrane, in or below the surface of the cornea, or in or below the surfaces of the teeth,
including the scaling of teeth.
3. Setting or casting a fracture of a bone or a dislocation of a joint.
4. Moving the joints of the spine beyond the individual’s usual physiological range of motion
using a fast, low amplitude thrust.
5. Administering a substance by injection or inhalation.
6. Putting an instrument, hand or finger,
1. beyond the external ear canal,
2. beyond the point in the nasal passages where they normally narrow,
3. beyond the larynx,
4. beyond the opening of the urethra,
5. beyond the labia majora,
6. beyond the anal verge, or
7. into an artificial opening in the body.
7. Applying or ordering the application of a form of energy prescribed by the regulations under
the RHPA.
8. Prescribing, dispensing, selling or compounding a drug as defined in the Drug and
Pharmacies Regulation Act, or supervising the part of a pharmacy where such drugs are
kept.
9. Prescribing or dispensing, for vision or eye problems, subnormal vision devices, contact
lenses or eye glasses other than simple magnifiers.
10. Prescribing a hearing aid for a hearing-impaired person.
11. Fitting or dispensing a dental prosthesis, orthodontic or periodontal appliance or device used
inside the mouth to prevent the teeth from abnormal functioning.
12. Managing labour or conducting the delivery of a baby.
13. Allergy challenge testing of a kind in which a positive result of the test is a significant allergic
response.
14. Treating, by means of psychotherapy technique, delivered through a therapeutic relationship,
an individual’s serious disorder of thought, cognition, mood, emotional regulation,
perception or memory that may seriously impair the individual’s judgement, insight,
behaviour, communication or social functioning.
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Council attachment 10.1

Council Decision Support Document
Extending the Waiver of Registration Fees for Return to Practise During the Pandemic

Decision Sought
Council is being asked to consider extending the temporary suspension of the Annual Fee provisions of
College By-Law No. 2: Fees, for applicants returning to practise who are looking to assist the Ontario
healthcare system during the Covid-19 pandemic.

Background
At the June 19, 2020 meeting, Council approved temporarily suspending the Annual Fee provisions of
College By-Law No. 2: Fees (as the Registrar does not have this authority) for applicants returning to
practise who are looking to assist the Ontario healthcare system during the Covid-19 pandemic. The
waiver of the annual fee would only apply to former members who have retired or resigned in the past
three years for the remainder of the current membership year, or until October 31, 2020.
For additional background, please refer to the Decision Support Document in Attachment 8.1 from the
June 19, 2020 Council Meeting.

Discussion
While the College has not received any applications to return to practise to assist during the pandemic to
date, the pandemic is ongoing and we are uncertain as to whether there will be a second wave/surge in
Covid-19 cases in the fall.
Should Council decide to extend the temporary suspension of the Annual Fee provisions in By-Law No. 2
for those returning to practise to assist during the pandemic, staff recommend that certificates of
registration issued pursuant to this decision be made valid until May 1, 2021, after which time they will
automatically expire unless further extended. Thereafter, pending the status of the pandemic, the College
can consider whether any further extensions should be approved.

September 1, 2020
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If Council decides to proceed with extending the temporary suspension of the annual fee provisions
described above, the Registrar will exercise her discretion to waive the application fees for applicable
applicants, which is permitted under section 14.01 Waiver/Reduction of Fees of By-Law No. 2.

Proposed Motion(s)
That Council extends the suspension of the Annual Fee provisions outlined in College By-Law No. 2: Fees
for applicants returning to practise who are looking to assist the Ontario healthcare system during the
Covid-19 pandemic and that Certificates of Registration issued pursuant to this decision be made valid until
May 1, 2021.
OR
That Council does not extend the suspension of the Annual Fee provisions outlined in College By-Law No.
2: Fees for applicants returning to practise who are looking to assist the Ontario healthcare system during
the Covid-19 pandemic.
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The College of Dietitians of Ontario exists to regulate and support all RDs in the interest of the public of Ontario
We are dedicated to the ongoing enhancement of safe, ethical and competent nutrition services provided
by Registered Dietitians in their changing practice environments

COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES

Council Attachment 11.1

March 27, 2020 (9:30 a.m.–2:45 p.m.)
Videoconference
Present
Lesia Kicak RD-Chair
Ann Watt RD (left at 1pm)
Asma Kenshil
Denis Tsang RD
Diana Balicsak RD
Donna Hennyey RD
John Regan
Kerri Labrecque RD
Marie-Louise Chartrand
Pavel Tomilin
Santhikumar Chandrasekharan
Shelagh Kerr
Teresa Taillefer RD
Trina Pearson RD

Staff
Melisse Willems-Registrar & Executive Director
Barbara McIntyre-Quality Assurance Manager
Carole Chatalalsingh-Practice Advisor & Policy Analyst
Deborah Cohen–Registration Program Manager
Diane Candiotto-Practice Advisor & Policy Analyst
Heena Vyas- Registration Coordinator & Project Lead
Ivy Marzan, Registration Administrator
Jada Pierre-Executive & General Office Administrative
Assistant–Minute Taker
Josna Aykkara-Administrative Assistant-Accounting &
Quality Assurance Program
Lisa Dalicandro-Manager, Governance & Operations
Monique Poirier-Communications Manager
Sarah Ahmed-Controller (Finance & HR)

ITEM & DISCUSSION

ACTION

1.0 Call to Order
Welcome New Council Member
Asma Kenshil
Santhikumar Chandrasekharan

The meeting was called to order at 9:33 a.m. by L. Kicak,
President and Chair.

2.0 Approval of Agenda
The COVID-19 update was moved ahead on the agenda to
provide relevant content for the other agenda items.

MOTION to approve the agenda, as amended.
Moved by: P. Tomilin
Seconded by: S. Chandrasekharan
Carried

3.0 Declaration of Conflict of Interest
No conflict of interest was declared
4.0 Declaration of Bias
No bias was declared
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ITEM & DISCUSSION

ACTION

5.0 COVID-19 Update
M. Willems provided an update to Council on the College’s
response to the COVID-19 pandemic. Council was
informed that all staff are working remotely and that there
has been regular communication with the membership to
provide practice guidance and information from the
Ministry.
Council discussed the potential financial impact of the
pandemic and whether the College is eligible for the
temporary 10% wage subsidy. Council requested an
update on the College’s eligibility from staff when the
information is available.
6.0 Draft Strategic Plan
Council approved the Strategic Plan for 2020-2024.

MOTION to approve the College’s Mission and Vision
statement as written.
Moved by: M. Chartrand
Seconded by: J. Regan
Carried
MOTION to approve the four strategic goals as amended.
Moved by: J. Regan
Seconded by: P. Tomilin
Carried
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ITEM & DISCUSSION

ACTION

7.0 Draft 2020-21 Budget
S. Ahmed presented the following to Council:
• Proposed 2020-21 Budget
• Proposed 2020-21 Work Plans
• 2019-2020 Accomplishments to date

MOTION to approve the Draft Budget for Fiscal 2020-21
with no fee increase and to revisit the budget at the June
Council meeting due to the economic uncertainty of the
COVID-19 pandemic.

S. Ahmed provided an overview of the draft budget. The
draft as developed by staff and recommended by the
Executive Committee assumes no increase in the annual fee
for the 2020-21 membership year. However, to ensure
continued operational and long-term planning stability, staff
recommended that Council revisit the annual fee for the
2021-22 membership year.

Moved by: J. Regan
Seconded by: P. Tomilin
Carried

Council and the Registrar discussed the economic
uncertainty that has been created as a result of the global
pandemic, in particular the impact of market fluctuations on
the College’s investments. All expressed a commitment to
ensuring that the College can responsibly manage its
financial obligations going forward. It was noted that the
college has a healthy reserve fund but the planned surplus
for the 2020-21 year was very narrow and may not be
surpassed if the college experiences either higher expenses
than planned or reduced income (through reduced member
renewal in the fall).
Council requested that staff review the budget and identify
specific items and costs that can be completed in the later
half of the year or deferred to next fiscal. Staff were also
directed to avoid expenses that can be deferred until after
the June Council meeting when the budget is revisited with a
better understanding of the economic impact of COVID-19.
8.0 Information Items (Consent Agenda)
December 13, 2019 Council Meeting Minutes
Executive Committee Report

MOTION to approve the Consent Agenda.
Moved by: M. Chartrand
Seconded by: P. Tomilin
Carried

9.0 Council Sharing
Council thanked staff for their ability to quickly respond to
evolving COVID-19 situation by changing the format of the
Council meeting to a virtual platform.
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ITEM & DISCUSSION

ACTION

10.0 Reminders/Standing Items:
Council was asked to delete College items from their
tablets/other devices, including any that may be in a
trash/recycle folder.
11.0 Management Report
M. Willems reviewed the Management Report and it was
discussed by Council.
12.0 Planning for Registrar Coverage

M. Willems informed Council that in the event the Registrar
is unable to perform some or all of their duties due to an
unexpected absence, a coverage plan should be in place to
ensure operational continuity. M. Willems noted that staff
are working on a plan to manage the operations of the
College, which would involve staff assuming some of the
Registrar’s responsibilities. M. Willems will share the plan
with Council after it is finalized.

13.0 In camera Minutes from December 13, 2019

In camera session pursuant to s. 7(2)(e) of the Health

Professions Procedural Code, being Schedule 2 to the

Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991

MOTION that Council move in Camera at 2:16p.m.
Moved by: P. Tomilin
Seconded by: A. Watt
Carried
MOTION to approve the minutes with the one typo to
change the spelling for Kerri LaBrecque’s last name
(capital B not small B)
Moved by: D. Hennyey
Seconded by: J. Regan
Carried
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ITEM & DISCUSSION

ACTION

14.0 Next steps in Registrar Performance Evaluation Process
In camera session pursuant to s. 7(2)(d) of the Health
Professions Procedural Code, being Schedule 2 to the

MOTION that the Registrar Performance & Compensation
Review Committee be granted approval to initiate an RFP
process to acquire a consultant to review the registrar
performance process and that the process be such that
payment of this consultant be deferred until after the June
review of the budget.

Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991

Moved by: J. Regan
Seconded by: D. Tsang
Carried
MOTION that Council move out of in camera session at
3:03p.m.
Moved by: J. Regan
Seconded by: K. LaBrecque
Carried
15.0 Adjournment

Motion to adjourn at 3:03p.m. was moved by P. Tomlin.
Carried

Lesia Kicak RD, President

Jada Pierre, Recorder

Date

Date
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The College of Dietitians of Ontario exists to regulate and support all RDs in the interest of the public of Ontario
We are dedicated to the ongoing enhancement of safe, ethical and competent nutrition services provided
by Registered Dietitians in their changing practice environments

Council Attachment 11.2

COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES

June 19, 2020 (9:00a.m. – 4:30p.m.)
Videoconference
Present
Lesia Kicak RD-Chair
Ann Watt RD
Asma Kenshil
Denis Tsang RD
Diana Balicsak RD
Donna Hennyey RD
John Regan
Kerri LaBrecque RD
Marie-Louise Chartrand
Pavel Tomilin
Santhikumar Chandrasekharan
Shelagh Kerr
Teresa Taillefer RD
Trina Pearson RD
Guests
Ana Miletic-Ministry of Health
John Risk-Weirfoulds LLP
Barbara Grohmann RD-Committee Appointee
Barbara Major-McEwan RD - Committee Appointee
Cindy Tsai RD–Committee Appointee

Erin Woodbeck RD-Committee Appointee
Khashayar Amirhosseini RD-Committee Appointee
Megan Charlish RD-Committee Appointee
Sobia Khan RD-Committee Appointee
Staff
Melisse Willems-Registrar & Executive Director
Bev Nopra-Quality Assurance Program Coordinator
Carole Chatalalsingh-Senior Practice Advisor & Policy
Analyst
Deborah Cohen–Director of Registration
Diane Candiotto-Practice Advisor & Policy Analyst
Heena Vyas- Registration Coordinator & Project Lead
Ivy Marzan, Registration Administrator
Jada Pierre-Executive & General Office Administrative
Assistant–Minute Taker
Josna Aykkara-Accounting & Quality Assurance
Administrator
Lisa Dalicandro-Manager, Governance & Operations
Monique Poirier-Communications Manager
Sarah Ahmed-Director of Finance

ITEM & DISCUSSION

ACTION

1.0 Call to Order

The meeting was called to order at 9:06 a.m. by L. Kicak,
President and Chair.

2.0 Approval of Agenda
Council agreed to postpone the in-camera portion of the
meeting to a later date.

MOTION to approve the agenda, as amended.
Moved by: P. Tomilin
Seconded by: T. Taillefer
Carried

3.0 Declaration of Conflict of Interest
No conflict of interest was declared
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ITEM & DISCUSSION

ACTION

4.0 Declaration of Bias
No bias was declared
5.0 Election of Executive Committee Members
• Election of President
• Election of Vice-President
• Election of Third Member of the Executive
Committee
• Election of Fourth Member of the Executive
Committee

L. Kicak handed the meeting over to M. Willems to
conduct the election of the Executive Committee.
Election of President/Chair
M. Chartrand nominated L. Kicak for President of the
College. The nomination was seconded by
D. Balicsak. L. Kicak accepted the nomination.
After three calls, no further nominations were received for
President.
L. Kicak was acclaimed as President of the College.
Election of Vice-President
T. Pearson nominated T. Taillefer for Vice-President of the
College. The nomination was seconded by M. Chartrand.
T. Taillefer accepted the nomination.
After three calls, no further nominations were received for
Vice-President.
T. Taillefer was acclaimed as Vice-President of the
College.
Election of Third Member of the Executive Committee
D. Balicsak nominated J. Regan as the Third
Member of the Executive Committee. The nomination was
seconded by S. Chandrasekharan. J. Regan accepted the
nomination.
D. Tsang nominated K. LaBrecque as the Third
Member of the Executive Committee. The nomination was
seconded by J. Regan. K. LaBrecque accepted the
nomination.
M. Chartrand nominated D. Tsang as the Third
Member of the Executive Committee. The nomination was
seconded by A. Kenshil. D. Tsang accepted the
nomination.
J. Regan nominated T. Pearson as the Third
Member of the Executive Committee. The nomination was
seconded by T. Taillefer. T. Pearson accepted the
nomination.
After three calls, no further nominations were received for
the Third Member of the Executive Committee.
The nominations were put to a vote.
J. Regan was elected as the Third Member of the
Executive Committee.
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ITEM & DISCUSSION

ACTION
Election of Fourth Member of the Executive Committee
J. Regan nominated D. Tsang as the Fourth
Member of the Executive Committee. The nomination was
seconded by P. Tomilin. D. Tsang accepted the
nomination.
D. Balicsak nominated K. LaBrecque as the Fourth
Member of the Executive Committee. The nomination was
seconded by J. Regan. K. LaBrecque accepted the
nomination.
S. Chandrasekharan nominated A. Kenshil as the Fourth
Member of the Executive Committee. The nomination was
seconded by J. Regan. A. Kenshil declined the
nomination.
T. Taillefer nominated T. Pearson as the Fourth
Member of the Executive Committee. The nomination was
seconded by D. Tsang. T. Pearson accepted the
nomination.
J. Regan nominated P. Tomilin as the Fourth
Member of the Executive Committee. The nomination was
seconded by D. Balicsak. P. Tomilin accepted the
nomination.
J. Regan nominated S. Chandrasekharan as the Fourth
Member of the Executive Committee. The nomination was
seconded by T. Pearson. S. Chandrasekharan declined
the nomination.
After three calls, no further nominations were received for
the Fourth Member of the Executive Committee.
The nominations were put to a vote.
K. LaBrecque was elected as the Fourth Member of the
Executive Committee.
L. Kicak resumed chairing of the meeting.

6.0 (a) Update to the Governance Manual and By-laws –
Presentation by John Risk, Weirfoulds LLP
J. Risk reviewed the draft revisions to By-law 1 and Council
provided feedback to be incorporated into the final draft.
Due to time restraints, J. Risk could not review By-law 2
and the Governance Manual with Council. It was decided
that a second meeting to complete the review will be
scheduled ahead of the September Council meeting.
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ITEM & DISCUSSION
7.0 (b) Updates to the Governance Manual and By-laws –
Council Discussion
Council reviewed the draft revisions to By-law 1 with legal
counsel, John Risk and made further suggestions for
revision.
Mr. Risk will prepare a final version based on the discussion
for circulation for consultation.
8.0 Reduction or Waiver of Annual Fee for Reinstatement
During Pandemic
Council discussed whether to waive the annual fee for
former members who wish to reinstate with the College for
the purpose of providing support to the COVID-19
pandemic. The waiver of the annual fee would only apply
to former members who have retired or resigned in the past
three years. The fee would be waived for the balance of the
2010-20 membership year (i.e. until October 31, 2020).

9.0 Review Annual Council Planning & Oversight Agenda

ACTION
MOTION to approve the revised By-law No.1, with
amendments, in principle for circulation for consultation.
Moved by: P. Tomilin
Seconded by: D. Hennyey
Carried
MOTION to approve waiving the annual fee for former
members who wish to reinstate with the College for the
purpose of providing support to the COVID-19 pandemic.
The waiver of the annual fee will only apply to former
members who have retired or resigned in the past three
years. The fee will be waived for the balance of the 201020 membership year (i.e. until October 31, 2020).
Moved by: P. Tomilin
Seconded by: M. Chartrand
Carried
Deferred until next meeting due to time constraints.

10.0 Plan for Council Learning Needs
Council discussed their learning needs for the upcoming
year and indicated their interest in the following training
topics:
• College governance, the role of Council members and
staff, and the other actors and larger network of
professional self-regulation
• Reading financial statements
• Understanding the dietetic profession (specific for
public members)
• Developing a Council assessment
• Developing competencies for Council members
• Other topics related to supporting the advancement of
the strategic plan
• Developing performance metrics with a risk-based
lens
• Diversity and inclusion/cultural sensitivity
• The governance modernization journey of the College
of Nurses of Ontario
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ACTION

11.0 Selection of Council Meeting Dates
MOTION to approve the 2020/2021 Council meeting
2020-21
dates as follows:
Council reviewed and discussed the proposed meeting dates
• September 17 & 18, 2020
for 2020-2021. It was agreed that Council will meet for two
• December 3 & 4, 2020
consecutive days each quarter.
• March 25 & 26, 2021
• June 17 & 18, 2021
Move by: D. Hennyey
Seconded by: M. Chartrand
Carried
12.0 Management Report (Including COVID-19 Update)

M. Willems reviewed and discussed the Management Report
with Council. The Registrar provided an update on the
College’s response to COVID-19, including staff’s transition
to remote work.
As part of the Management Report, M. Willems presented a
revised budget in response to economic uncertainties caused
by COVID-19, that identified costs to be deferred in whole
or in part to next fiscal year. It was noted that the state of
the pandemic is still fluctuating and that further adjustments
to the budget may need to be made as the situation unfolds.
An update on the financial analysis of the fourth quarter
(January to March 2020) was also reviewed with Council.

MOTION to approve the budget for 2020-21 with the
understanding that there will be ebbs and flows due to
COVID-19.
Moved by: M. Chartrand
Seconded by: A. Watt
Carried

13.0 Council & Committee Performance Evaluations

Deferred until next meeting due to time constraints.

14.0 Committee Composition for 2020-21
Council approved the draft committee compositions for 202021, with amendments to reflect the election of the Executive
Committee and a request from K. LaBrecque to remove her
from the Registration Committee. The amendments include
removing K. LaBrecque from the Registration Committee and
adding D. Tsang to the Registration Performance
Compensation Review Committee.

MOTION to approve the Committee Compositions for
2020-21 as amended.

15.0 Selection of Interim Committee Chairs

MOTION to approve the interim committee chairs as
stated on the attachment for item 14.

The Registrar explained that past practice has been that the
chair of each committee for the previous year is appointed
as interim chair, so long as that member is still on the
committee and is willing and able to serve in this capacity.
Council was in agreement with this practice for 2020-21.

Moved by: J. Regan
Seconded by: K. LaBrecque
Carried

Moved by: J. Regan
Seconded by: D. Balicsak
Carried

Information Items (Consent Agenda)
16.0 March 27, 2020 Council Meeting Minutes
17.0 Executive Committee Report

Deferred until next meeting due to time constraints.

CDO Council Meeting Minutes June 19, 2020
Page 5
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ACTION

18.0 Planning for Registrar Coverage

M. Willems presented the Registrar’s Coverage plan to
Council, which provides guidance for the continued
operations of the College if there is a temporary or
permanent disruption in the ability of the Registrar to
perform her duties. It was recommended by the Registrar
that this document be used as a reference guide and that
deviation from the planned approach may be needed,
depending on the scenario.

19.0 Tribute to Outgoing Council and Committee Members
• Erin Woodbeck
• Laila Kanji
• Sobia Khan
L. Kicak thanked E. Woodbeck and L. Kanji for their years of
service on Council and S. Khan for her years of service on
Committees.
20.0 Council Sharing

There was no council sharing to review.
21.0 Reminders/Standing Items:
Council was asked to delete College items from their
tablets/other devices, including any that may be in a
trash/recycle folder.
Council Evaluation
Council members were reminded to complete the Council
meeting evaluation survey. J. Pierre will activate the survey

after the meeting for completion by Council members.
22.0 In camera Minutes from March 27, 2020

In camera session pursuant to s. 7(2)(e) of the Health

Deferred until next meeting

Professions Procedural Code, being Schedule 2 to the

Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991

15.0 Adjournment

Motion to adjourn at 4:30 p.m. was moved by P. Tomlin.
Carried

Lesia Kicak RD, President

Jada Pierre, Recorder

Date

Date
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The College of Dietitians of Ontario exists to regulate and support all RDs in the interest of the public of Ontario
We are dedicated to the ongoing enhancement of safe, ethical and competent nutrition services provided
by Registered Dietitians in their changing practice environments

COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES

Council Attachment 11.3

August 26, 2020 (1:00 - 4:00 p.m.)
Videoconference

Present
Lesia Kicak RD-Chair
Ann Watt RD
Asma Kenshil
Ray D’Sa
Denis Tsang RD
Diana Balicsak RD
Donna Hennyey RD
John Regan
Kerri LaBrecque RD
Marie-Louise Chartrand
Pavel Tomilin
Santhikumar Chandrasekharan
Shelagh Kerr
Teresa Taillefer RD
Trina Pearson RD
ITEM & DISCUSSION
1.0 Call to Order
Welcome new Council member:
Raynold D’Sa
2.0 Approval of Agenda

Guests
John Risk, Weirfoulds LLP
Staff
Melisse Willems-Registrar & Executive Director
Bev Nopra-Quality Assurance Program Coordinator
Carole Chatalalsingh-Senior Practice Advisor & Policy
Analyst
Deborah Cohen–Director of Registration
Heena Vyas- Registration Coordinator & Project Lead
Ivy Marzan, Registration Administrator
Jada Pierre-Executive & General Office Administrative
Assistant–Minute Taker
Lisa Dalicandro-Manager, Governance & Operations
Monique Poirier-Communications Manager

ACTION
The meeting was called to order at 1:05 p.m. by L. Kicak,
President and Chair.

MOTION to approve the agenda.
Moved by: P. Tomilin
Seconded by: J. Regan
Carried

3.0 Declaration of Conflict of Interest
No conflict of interest was declared
4.0 Declaration of Bias
No bias was declared
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ITEM & DISCUSSION
5.0 (a) Update to the Governance Manual and By-laws –
Presentation by John Risk, Weirfoulds LLP
J. Risk reviewed with Council the draft revisions to By-law 2
and the Council Governance manual. Council provided
feedback to be incorporated into the final drafts of both
documents.

The Motion moved by D. Tsang to approve the Governance
Manual for the purposes of circulation was rescinded and
updated as the College is not required to circulate the
Governance Manual and this type of document is not
generally circulated in any event.

ACTION
MOTION to approve the revised By-law No.2, with
amendments, in principle for circulation for consultation.
Moved by: S. Kerr
Seconded by: K. LaBrecque
Carried
MOTION to approve the revised Governance Manual, with
amendments, for circulation to members.
Moved by: D. Tsang
Seconded by: P. Tomlin
Carried
MOTION to rescind the motion made by D. Tsang.
Moved by: K. LaBrecque
Seconded by: D. Balicsak
Carried
MOTION to approve the revised policy manual in concept
and directing that the work on a final draft version continue
for presentation to Council for approval at a future meeting
with the final draft version reflecting any input from Council
at its June and August meetings.
Moved by: P. Tomilin
Seconded by: D. Balicsak
Carried

6.0 Adjournment

Motion to adjourn at 3:15p.m. was moved by K.
LaBrecque.
Carried

Lesia Kicak RD, President

Jada Pierre, Recorder

Date

Date
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Council attachment 12.1

Executive Committee Report
July to September 2020
Committee Members: Lesia Kicak RD (Chair), John Regan, Kerri LaBrecque RD, Teresa Taillefer RD
Support Staff: Melisse Willems (Registrar & ED), Jada Pierre & Lisa Dalicandro (Recorders)
The Executive Committee met on August 21, 2020. It was the first meeting of the new Executive since
the year end meeting in June.
Summary of work:
•
•
•

Executive Committee orientation for new members.
Review of Council meeting evaluations and discussion of trends, areas for concern.
Approval of draft Council agenda for September meetings.

Respectfully Submitted,
Lesia Kicak, RD
President

